
 

For information relating to this meeting or to request a copy in another format or 
language please contact: 

Teresa Buckley, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR 

(01803) 207013 

Email: governance.support@torbay.gov.uk 

(1) 

 

 

 

Policy Development and Decision Group (Joint Operations Team)  
 

Wednesday, 23 November 2016 at 10.00 am 
to be held in Meadfoot Room, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR 

 

Membership 

Councillor Haddock (Chairman) 

Councillor Amil 

Councillor Excell 

Councillor King 

Councillor Manning 

 

Councillor Mills 

Councillor Parrott 

Mayor Oliver 

 

 

Agenda 
 

1.   Apologies  
 To receive apologies for absence. 

 
2.   Disclosure of Interests 

 
 

(a)   To receive declarations of non pecuniary interests in respect of 
items on this agenda 

 

 For reference:  Having declared their non pecuniary interest 
members may remain in the meeting and speak and, vote on the 
matter in question.  A completed disclosure of interests form should 
be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting. 

 

(b)   To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect 
of items on this agenda 

 



 For reference:  Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary 
interest he/she must leave the meeting during consideration of the 
item.  However, the Member may remain in the meeting to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence if the public 
have a right to do so, but having done so the Member must then 
immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and must not 
improperly seek to influence the outcome of the matter.  A 
completed disclosure of interests form should be returned to the 
Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting. 
 
(Please Note:  If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on any 
potential interests they may have, they should contact Governance 
Support or Legal Services prior to the meeting.) 

 

3.   Minutes (Pages 3 - 21) 
 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the 

Policy Development and Decision Group held on 14 September 
2016. 

 
4.   Urgent Items  
 To consider any other items the Chairman decides are urgent. 

 
 Part A - Policy Development 

 
 

5.   Bylaws homeless people and begging (To Follow) 
 To discuss issues in connection with homeless people and begging. 

 
6.   Traffic Regulation Orders preventing motor homes parking 

in residential areas 
(To Follow) 

 To discuss issues in connection with motor homes parking in 
residential areas. 

 
 Part B - Mayoral Decisions 

 
 

7.   Transformation Project - Creation of a Local Lottery (To Follow) 
 To consider the submitted report on the above. 

 
8.   Potential Helipad and Light Rail System for Torbay (Pages 22 - 24) 
 To consider the submitted report in respect of a potential helipad 

and a light rail system to Brixham. 

 
9.   Modern Slavery Statement (Pages 25 - 90) 
 To consider the submitted report on the above. 

 
 



 

 

 
 

Minutes of the Policy Development and Decision Group (Joint 
Operations Team) 

 
14 September 2016 

 
-: Present :- 

 
Mayor Oliver and Councillors Excell, Haddock, King and Parrott 

 
(Also in attendance: Councillors Barnby, Brooks, Darling (S), Doggett, Ellery, Lewis, 

Morey, Robson, Stockman, Thomas (D), Tolchard and Tyerman)  
 

 
1. Election of Chairman/woman  

 
Councillor Haddock was elected Chairman of the Policy Development and Decision 
Group (Joint Operations Team) for the 2016/2017 Municipal Year. 
 

2. Apologies  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Amil and Mills. 
 

3. Appointment of Vice-Chairman/woman  
 
Councillor King was appointed as Vice-Chairman of the Policy Development and 
Decision Group (Joint Operations Team) for the ensuing Municipal Year. 
 

4. Local Transport Plan Implementation Plan (Policy Framework)  
 
The Policy Development and Decision Group (Joint Operations Team) made the 
following recommendations to the Mayor: 
 

(i) to publish for four week consultation the Torbay Local Transport 
Implementation Plan 2016-2021 as set out at Appendix 2 to the 
submitted report; and 

 
(ii) to note that, following consideration of representations received, the 

Torbay Local Transport Implementation Plan, with modifications as 
necessary, will be considered by the Mayor and submitted to Council 
for final approval on 27 October 2016.   

 
The Mayor considered the recommendation of the Policy Development and 
Decision Group (Joint Operations Team) set out above at the meeting and the 
record of his decision, together with further information is attached to these 
Minutes. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Policy Development and Decision Group (Joint Operations Team) Wednesday, 14 September 2016 
 

 

 

5. Review of Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing Supplementary 
Planning Document (Policy Framework)  
 
The Policy Development and Decision Group (Joint Operations Team) made the 
following recommendations to the Mayor: 
 

(i) to publish for six week public consultation the Review of Planning 
Contributions and Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) as set out at Appendix 1 to the submitted report; and 

 
(ii) to note that, following consideration of representations received, the 

SPD, with modifications as necessary, will be considered by the 
Mayor and submitted to Council for final approval on 8 December 
2016.  

 
The Mayor considered the recommendation of the Policy Development and 
Decision Group (Joint Operations Team) set out above at the meeting and the 
record of his decision, together with further information is attached to these 
Minutes. 
 

6. Parking Strategy 2016-2021 - Mayor's Final Proposed Strategy (Policy 
Framework)  
 
The Policy Development and Decision Group (Joint Operations Team) made the 
following recommendations to the Mayor: 
 

(i) that the Torbay Council Parking Strategy 2016-2021, as set out in 
Appendix 2 to the submitted report, be adopted; and 

 
(ii) that the Parking Operations Panel and Members involvement in the 

decision making process be reviewed after one year. 
 
The Mayor considered the recommendation of the Policy Development and 
Decision Group (Joint Operations Team) set out above at the meeting and the 
record of his decision, together with further information is attached to these 
Minutes. 
 

7. Capital Investment Fund  
 
The Policy Development and Decision Group (Joint Operations Team) made the 
following recommendations to the Mayor: 
 

That the Council be recommended: 
 
(i) that the Investment Fund be increased by £40 million to a total of £50 

million to be initially funded by prudential borrowing, with the revenue 
costs associated with that borrowing (MRP and interest costs) to be 
funded from the investment returns or higher NNDR income; 

 

Page 4



Policy Development and Decision Group (Joint Operations Team) Wednesday, 14 September 2016 
 

 

 

(ii) that the Investment Strategy for the fund as detailed within Appendix 1 
be approved; 

 
(iii) that the governance of fund as detailed within paragraph 7.4 be 

approved; 
 
(iv) that the Chief Executive be delegated authority to set up a delivery 

team including sourcing external support if required, to be funded from 
the investment returns; and 

 
(v) that the Chief Executive be delegated authority to make any changes 

to the Strategy, in consultation with the Mayor, Group Leaders, 
Section 151 Officer and Executive Head of Business Services.  

 
The Mayor considered the recommendation of the Policy Development and 
Decision Group (Joint Operations Team) set out above at the meeting and the 
record of his decision, together with further information is attached to these 
Minutes. 
 

8. Disposal of Long Lease - Waterpark, Go-kart Site and Peter Pan Area, 
Goodrington Sands, Tanners Road, Goodrington, Paignton  
 
The Policy Development and Decision Group (Joint Operations Team) made the 
following recommendation to the Mayor: 
 

That the granting of a 25 year Lease with lease break options in favour of the 
Council (the 1st break option at year 10 and intervals thereafter) be approved 
for the red and the blue area shown on the Plan EM 2663 at Appendix 2 to 
the submitted report with authority being delegated to the Assistant Director 
(Corporate and Business Services) in consultation with the Torbay 
Development Agency’s Head of Asset Management to approve the detailed 
terms of the Lease. 

 
The Mayor considered the recommendation of the Policy Development and 
Decision Group (Joint Operations Team) set out above at the meeting and the 
record of his decision, together with further information is attached to these 
Minutes. 
 

9. Torre Valley North Lease  
 
Robert Loxton made representations on behalf of the Torbay Sports Council.  The 
Policy Development and Decision Group (Joint Operations Team) made the 
following recommendations to the Mayor: 
 

(i) that the granting of a 30 year full repairing lease to Torre Valley 

Sports Group CIC (Community Interest Company) at the appropriate 

market rent be approved; 

 

Page 5



Policy Development and Decision Group (Joint Operations Team) Wednesday, 14 September 2016 
 

 

 

(ii) that authority is delegated to the Assistant Director of Corporate and 

Business Services, in consultation with the Executive Head of 

Business Services and the Torbay Development Agency, to approve 

the detailed terms of the lease; and 

 

(iii) that, in light of the protracted delays and the revised higher rental 

figure, the Assistant Director of Corporate and Business Services be 

authorised to offer a rent free period of 30 months, to allow the Torre 

Valley Sports Group CIC time to submit an application to the Council 

for a grant to offset the market rent. 

 
The Mayor considered the recommendation of the Policy Development and 
Decision Group (Joint Operations Team) set out above at the meeting and the 
record of his decision, together with further information is attached to these 
Minutes. 
 

10. Exclusion of press and public  
 
Prior to consideration of the item in Minute 11 the press and public were formally 
excluded from the meeting on the grounds that the item involved the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended). 
 

11. Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support Risk Based Verification Policy  
 
The Policy Development and Decision Group (Joint Operations Team) made the 
following recommendations to the Mayor: 
 

That the Risk Based Verification Policy for Housing Benefit and Council Tax 
Support set out at Exempt Appendix 2 to the submitted report be approved. 

 
The Mayor considered the recommendation of the Policy Development and 
Decision Group (Joint Operations Team) set out above at the meeting and the 
record of his decision, together with further information is attached to these 
Minutes. 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 

Page 6



 

 

Record of Decision 
 

Local Transport Plan Implementation Plan 
 

Decision Taker 
 
Mayor on 14 September 2016 
 
Decision 
 
(i) to publish for four week consultation the Torbay Local Transport Implementation Plan 

2016-2021 as set out at Appendix 2 to the submitted report; and 

 
(ii) to note that, following consideration of representations received, the Torbay Local 

Transport Implementation Plan, with modifications as necessary, will be considered by 
the Mayor and submitted to Council for final approval on 27 October 2016.   

 
Reason for the Decision 
 
As the Local Transport Plan forms part of the Council’s Policy Framework formal consultation is 
required before the Plan is submitted to Council for approval. 
 
Implementation 
 
This decision will come into force on 14 September 2016, so as to commence the formal four 
week consultation process on this Policy Framework document. 
 
Information 
 
The submitted report set out the draft Torbay Local Transport Implementation Plan 2016-2021, 
which needed to go out to further public consultation.  The Plan provided details on how the 
Council intended to deliver transport projects over the next five financial years, beginning 
2016/17.  This Implementation Plan set out a proposal to use Integrated Transport Block 
Funding (received annually as grant from the Department for Transport) to support a number of 
committed projects over the next few years.  It also supported a process for the development of 
additional future projects which was based on an evidence based approach, the detailed 
development of business cases and the delivery of projects which were evaluated in the 
context of the Council Capital Plan budget and the Council’s Capital Plan Prioritisation Matrix.  
This approach was intended to ensure integrated delivery of transport infrastructure with other 
Council projects and that they respond holistically to Council priorities. 
 
The Council had previously carried out two rounds of consultation (in November 2015 and in 
February 2016) regarding a new Implementation Plan. The results of that consultation had 
helped influence the preparation of the final draft document together with engagement with 
Council Members and Senior Officers. 
 
The Mayor considered the recommendation of the Policy Development and Decision Group 
(Joint Operations Team) made on 14 September 2016 and his decision is set out above. 
 
Alternative Options considered and rejected at the time of the decision 
 
Alternative options were set out in the submitted report but not discussed at the meeting. 
 

Page 5

Minute Item 4

Page 7



 

 

 

Is this a Key Decision? 
 
Yes – Reference Number: I022170  
 
Does the call-in procedure apply? 
 
No 
 
Declarations of interest (including details of any relevant dispensations issued by the 
Standards Committee) 
 
None 
 
Published 
 
19 September 2016 
 

 
 
Signed: _________________________ Date:  19 September 2016 
           Mayor of Torbay 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 6Page 8



 

 

Record of Decision 
 

Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document 
 

Decision Taker 
 
Mayor on 14 September 2016 
 
Decision 
 
(i) to publish for six week public consultation the Review of Planning Contributions and 

Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) as set out at Appendix 1 
to the submitted report; and 

 
(ii) to note that, following consideration of representations received, the SPD, with 

modifications as necessary, will be considered by the Mayor and submitted to Council for 
final approval on 8 December 2016.  

 
Reason for the Decision 
 
As the Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document 
forms part of the Council’s Policy Framework formal consultation is required before the Plan is 
submitted to Council for approval. 
 
Implementation 
 
This decision will come into force on 14 September 2016, so as to commence the formal six 
week consultation process on this Policy Framework document. 
 
Information 
 
Following adoption of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-30 and submission of Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL), the Council needed to review its Planning Contributions and 
Affordable housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPD) and conduct public consultation 
on the revised document.  The existing SPD was adopted in 2008 and has been updated 
several times (most recently in 2011).  It is therefore in need of refreshing to reflect the priorities 
of the Corporate Plan and Local Plan.  
 
It was proposed to prioritise Section 106 Obligations into three bands which retained the broad 
approach of the existing SPD.  These are: 
 

 Priority 1:  site acceptable matters; 

 Priority 2:  affordable housing, employment and health infrastructure; and 

 Priority 3:  sustainable development infrastructure from larger developments. 
 
A number of observations and comments were made by Members at the meeting which would 
be picked up by officers as part of the consultation process. 
 
The Mayor considered the recommendation of the Policy Development and Decision Group 
(Joint Operations Team) made on 14 September 2016 and his decision is set out above. 
 
 
 

Page 7

Minute Item 5

Page 9



 

 

 

Alternative Options considered and rejected at the time of the decision 
 
Alternative options were set out in the submitted report but not discussed at the meeting. 
 
Is this a Key Decision? 
 
Yes – Reference Number: I024914  
 
Does the call-in procedure apply? 
 
No 
 
Declarations of interest (including details of any relevant dispensations issued by the 
Standards Committee) 
 
None 
 
Published 
 
19 September 2016 
 

 
 
Signed: _________________________ Date:  19 September 2016 
           Mayor of Torbay 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 8Page 10



 

 

Record of Decision 
 

Parking Strategy 2016-2021 
 

Decision Taker 
 
Mayor on 14 September 2016 
 
Decision 
 
(i) that the Torbay Council Parking Strategy 2016-2021, as set out in Appendix 2 to the 

submitted report, be adopted; and 
 
(ii) that the Parking Operations Panel and Members involvement in the decision making 

process be reviewed after one year. 
 
Reason for the Decision 
 
To respond to the consultation on the draft Parking Strategy 2016-2021 and recommend the 
final document to the Council. 
 
Implementation 
 
The recommendations of the Mayor will be considered at the Council meeting on 22 September 
2016. 
 
Information 
 
The Council’s Parking Strategy had been reviewed following the Review of Parking in Torbay, 
which was completed in March 2016. 
 
The Strategy presented a way forward to provide the fairest and most consistent approach to 
parking management and provision in Torbay.  It set out the Vision, Values and Aims that 
underpin the Council’s approach to parking.  It also set out the key work areas that the Council 
will focus on to take parking services forward over the next five years. 
 
The submitted report also included an officer recommendation regarding use of mobile 
enforcement cameras which was not supported by the Mayor. 
 
The Mayor considered the recommendation of the Policy Development and Decision Group 
(Joint Operations Team) made on 14 September 2016 and his decision is set out above. 
 
Alternative Options considered and rejected at the time of the decision 
 
Alternative options were set out in the submitted report but not discussed at the meeting. 
 
Is this a Key Decision? 
 
Yes – Reference Number: I023562  
 
Does the call-in procedure apply? 
 
No 

Page 9

Minute Item 6

Page 11



 

 

 

 
Declarations of interest (including details of any relevant dispensations issued by the 
Standards Committee) 
 
None 
 
Published 
 
19 September 2016 
 

 
 
Signed: _________________________ Date:  19 September 2016 
           Mayor of Torbay 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 10Page 12



 

 

Record of Decision 
 

Capital Investment Fund 
 

Decision Taker 
 
Mayor on 14 September 2016 
 
Decision 
 
That the Council be recommended: 
 
(i) that the Investment Fund be increased by £40 million to a total of £50 million to be 

initially funded by prudential borrowing, with the revenue costs associated with that 
borrowing (MRP and interest costs) to be funded from the investment returns or higher 
NNDR income;  

 
(ii) that the Investment Strategy for the fund as detailed within Appendix 1 be approved; 
 
(iii) that, subject to the deletion of 7.4(a) so as to require all decisions on allocations from the 

Investment Fund to be approved by the Council, the governance of fund as detailed 
within paragraph 7.4 be approved; and 

 
(iv) that the Chief Executive be delegated authority to set up a delivery team including 

sourcing external support if required, to be funded from the investment returns.  
 
Reason for the Decision 
 
To make investments in property (within and outside Torbay) and increase revenue from 
National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) in order to increase revenue streams. 
 
Implementation 
 
The recommendations of the Mayor will be considered at the Council meeting on 22 September 
2016. 
 
Information 
 
The Council approved a £10m investment fund in February 2016.  The Council has reviewed 
this fund and how it can help deliver the Council’s Efficiency Plan and Transformation 
Programme and proposed to expand the fund by £40m.  The submitted report set out criteria 
for both the investments made by the fund and details the proposed governance arrangements 
around the management of the investment fund.  In addition the report proposed investment to 
increase future National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) revenues within Torbay. 
 
Examples of good practice used by other local authorities with similar funds had been 
incorporated into the proposals. 
 
Following the Policy Development and Decision Group (Joint Operations Team) the Mayor 
attended the Overview and Scrutiny Board meeting where further discussion took place in 
respect of the Investment Fund.  The Mayor reviewed his original proposed decision stated at 
the meeting to support the recommendations of the Policy Development and Decision Group as 
he felt that all Members should be involved in decisions to allocate money from the Investment 

Page 11

Minute Item 7

Page 13



 

 

 

Fund and his final decision is set out above. 
 
Alternative Options considered and rejected at the time of the decision 
 
Alternative options were set out in the submitted report but not discussed at the meeting. 
 
Is this a Key Decision? 
 
Yes – Reference Number: I025893  
 
Does the call-in procedure apply? 
 
No 
 
Declarations of interest (including details of any relevant dispensations issued by the 
Standards Committee) 
 
None 
 
Published 
 
19 September 2016 
 

 
 
Signed: _________________________ Date:  19 September 2016 
           Mayor of Torbay 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 12Page 14



 

 

Record of Decision 
 

Disposal of Long Lease - Waterpark, Go-kart Site and Peter Pan Area, Goodrington 
Sands, Tanners Road, Goodrington, Paignton 

 
Decision Taker 
 
Mayor on 14 September 2016 
 
Decision 
 
That the granting of a 25 year Lease with lease break options in favour of the Council (the 1st 
break option at year 10 and intervals thereafter) be approved for the red and the blue area 
shown on the Plan EM 2663 at Appendix 2 to the submitted report with authority being 
delegated to the Assistant Director (Corporate and Business Services) in consultation with the 
Torbay Development Agency’s Head of Asset Management to approve the detailed terms of 
the Lease. 
 
Reason for the Decision 
 
To secure the future for the Waterpark, Go-kart Site and Peter Pan Area, Goodrington Sands, 
Tanners Road, Goodrington, Paignton. 
 
Implementation 
 
This decision will come into force and may be implemented on Tuesday, 27 September 2016 
unless the call-in procedure is triggered (as set out in the Standing Orders in relation to 
Overview and Scrutiny). 
 
Information 
 
Due to the ending of the non-renewable lease for the Waterpark, Goodrington in November 
2016, a tender process was undertaken for the granting of a new long lease for the area of the 
existing Waterpark, go-kart area and Peter Pan area at Goodrington Sands, Tanners Road, 
Paignton.  Only one bid was received and it was proposed that a 25 year non renewable lease 
be granted to the bidder at £35,000 per annum, with lease break options in favour of the 
Council at certain intervals. 
 
As part of the tender the bidder set out a series of investment proposals in the facility which 
would enhance the site and be beneficial to residents, visitors and the Council.  Granting a 25 
year Lease gives the bidder sufficient security to allow this investment to happen but does limit 
the Council’s options on the waterpark site for the next 10 years.  
 
The Mayor considered the recommendation of the Policy Development and Decision Group 
(Joint Operations Team) made on 14 September 2016 and his decision is set out above. 
 
Alternative Options considered and rejected at the time of the decision 
 
Alternative options were set out in the submitted report but not discussed at the meeting. 
 
Is this a Key Decision? 
 
Yes – Reference Number: I023108  

Page 13

Minute Item 8

Page 15



 

 

 

 
Does the call-in procedure apply? 
 
Yes 
 
Declarations of interest (including details of any relevant dispensations issued by the 
Standards Committee) 
 
None 
 
Published 
 
19 September 2016 
 

 
 
Signed: _________________________ Date:  19 September 2016 
           Mayor of Torbay 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 14Page 16



 

 

Record of Decision 
 

Torre Valley North Sports Lease 
 

Decision Taker 
 
Mayor on 14 September 2016 
 
Decision 
 
(i) that the granting of a 30 year full repairing lease to Torre Valley Sports Group CIC 

(Community Interest Company) at the appropriate market rent be approved; 

 

(ii) that authority is delegated to the Assistant Director of Corporate and Business Services, 

in consultation with the Executive Head of Business Services and the Torbay 

Development Agency, to approve the detailed terms of the lease; and 

 

(iii) that, in light of the protracted delays and the revised higher rental figure, the Assistant 

Director of Corporate and Business Services be authorised to offer a rent free period of 

30 months, to allow the Torre Valley Sports Group CIC time to submit an application to 

the Council for a grant to offset the market rent. 

 
Reason for the Decision 
 
To enable the lease to be finalised for Torre Valley North and to allow the Torre Valley Sports 
Group Community Interest Company (CIC) time to submit an application to the Council for a 
grant to offset the market rent. 
 
Implementation 
 
This decision will come into force and may be implemented on Tuesday, 27 September 2016 
unless the call-in procedure is triggered (as set out in the Standing Orders in relation to 
Overview and Scrutiny). 
 
Information 
 
The Council has been in negotiations with Torre Valley Sports Group CIC (Community Interest 

Company) for a number of years regarding the lease terms for Torre Valley North.  The Council 

is now in a position to sign the lease taking into account the revised Corporate Asset 

Management Plan 2015-2019 which was updated in February 2016. 

 

It was proposed that the lease be granted at the appropriate market rent with a 30 month rent 

free period being offered so that the average rent over the first five years was equivalent to the 

originally agreed rent of £2,000 per annum.  This proposal also recognised the change in the 

Council’s policy, which had occurred during the protracted period of lease negotiations and 

which had resulted in a higher rent position.  The previous discussions had been in principle 

and were always subject to contract. 

 

Mr Robert Loxton made representations to the meeting on behalf of the Torbay Sports Council. 

Page 15

Minute Item 9

Page 17



 

 

 

 

The Mayor considered the recommendation of the Policy Development and Decision Group 
(Joint Operations Team) made on 14 September 2016 and his decision is set out above. 
 
Alternative Options considered and rejected at the time of the decision 
 
Alternative options were set out in the submitted report but not discussed at the meeting. 
 
Is this a Key Decision? 
 
Yes – Reference Number: I024068  
 
Does the call-in procedure apply? 
 
Yes 
 
Declarations of interest (including details of any relevant dispensations issued by the 
Standards Committee) 
 
None 
 
Published 
 
19 September 2016 
 

 
 
Signed: _________________________ Date:  19 September 2016 
           Mayor of Torbay 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 16Page 18



 

 

Record of Decision 
 

Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support Risk Based Verification Policy 
 

Decision Taker 
 
Mayor on 14 September 2016 
 
Decision 
 
That the Risk Based Verification Policy for Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support set out at 
Exempt Appendix 2 to the submitted report be approved. 
 
Reason for the Decision 
 
Implementing Risk Based Verification will reduce the necessity for customers to contact the 
Council through more expensive methods such as face to face, and decrease the need to 
produce original documents to support their claim resulting in a reduction in the number of 
customer contacts, lower volumes of scanning and indexing and less information requests.  It 
will also: 
 

 Introduce a more efficient administration process that will result in a reduction in 
officer time.  This will allow resources to be deployed more effectively and result in a 
reduction in administration costs.  

 

 Significantly reduce the claim verification process for customers, which will improve 
processing times. 

 

 Support the cross-skilling of customer service advisors as the administration process 
is simplified for low risk cases.   

 

 Improve customer satisfaction as on average Housing Benefit and Council Tax 
Support will be paid much quicker, duplication reduced and fewer avoidable calls. 

 

 Identify potentially fraudulent cases and taking the appropriate action.  
 
Implementation 
 
This decision will come into force and may be implemented on Tuesday, 27 September 2016 
unless the call-in procedure is triggered (as set out in the Standing Orders in relation to 
Overview and Scrutiny). 
 
Information 
 
The Council has been given the opportunity to implement Risk Based Verification into its 
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support assessment processes by the Department of Work 
and Pensions (DWP).  
 
Currently when a resident applies for these benefits they must provide a substantial amount of 
original evidence.  The same level of verification is applied to all customers, irrespective of their 
circumstances and this is both costly and inefficient. 
 
 

Page 17

Minute Item 11

Page 19



 

 

 

Risk Based Verification assesses the information provided on the application form and 
allocates the case to a risk category.  If someone is in a low-risk category they may only be 
required to submit basic identification and National Insurance Number information.  This 
targeted approach has shown to be more effective at identifying fraud and error, whilst also 
reducing costs and improving the customer journey.  It was anticipated that this approach could 
save the Council approximately £70,000 per annum. 
 
The Mayor considered the recommendation of the Policy Development and Decision Group 
(Joint Operations Team) made on 14 September 2016 and his decision is set out above. 
 
(Note:  Prior to consideration of this item the press and public were formally excluded from the 
meeting on the grounds that the item involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended).) 
 
Alternative Options considered and rejected at the time of the decision 
 
Alternative options were set out in the submitted report but not discussed at the meeting. 
 
Is this a Key Decision? 
 
No  
 
Does the call-in procedure apply? 
 
Yes 
 
Declarations of interest (including details of any relevant dispensations issued by the 
Standards Committee) 
 
None 
 
Published 
 
19 September 2016 
 

 
 
Signed: _________________________ Date:  19 September 2016 
           Mayor of Torbay 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 18Page 20



 

 

 

 

Page 19Page 21



 

 

 
 
Meeting:  Policy Development and Decision Group (Joint Operations Team) 
 
Date: 23 November 2016  
 
Wards Affected: All  
 
Report Title: Potential Helipad and Light Rail system for Torbay 
 
Is the decision a key decision? No 
 
When does the decision need to be implemented?  
 
Executive Lead Contact Details:  Mark King, Executive Lead for Planning, Transport 
and Housing, 07873 254117, mark.king@torbay.gov.uk 
 
Supporting Officer Contact Details:  Adam Luscombe, Team Leader Strategy and 
Project Delivery, Spatial Planning, 01803 207693, adam.luscombe@torbay.gov.uk 
 

 
1. Proposal and Introduction 
 
1.1 This reports seeks to summarise the current position of two Mayoral pledges, 

namely a Helipad for Torbay and a Light Rail System to Brixham. 
 

1.2 Discussions about the potential for a Helipad in Torbay started in March 2014.  
These initial discussions involved the Mayor, officers, and Captain Ian Payne, Flight 
Operations Director, Devon Air Ambulance.  There was a clear desire, by Devon Air 
Ambulance, for a night time landing facility. 
 

1.3 In August 2015, the Mayor’s Executive Group asked officers to assess operations 
for a more formal landing site and potentially a scheduled service.  A decision taken 
by the Mayor on 14 December 2015 to allocate £10,000 towards a feasibility study.  
This decision was called in and a report was prepared for the Overview and 
Scrutiny Board on 6 January 2016.  At that meeting the Board welcomed the 
Mayor’s decision to rescind his previous decision in relation to funding a feasibility 
study for a helipad in Torbay.  However, the Board could not find any evidence that 
the allocation of £10,000 to fund such a feasibility study would have been in 
accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework. 
 

1.4 Initial scoping work, on a commercial helipad, was undertaken in November 2014.  
Whilst this work was in no way exhaustive, it did identify Gallows Gate as a 
potential location. 
 

Page 22

Agenda Item 8

mailto:mark.king@torbay.gov.uk
mailto:adam.luscombe@torbay.gov.uk


 

 

1.5 Previously the cost of constructing a helipad has been estimated at £100,000 but 
that is prior to any level of feasibility study being carried out. 
 

1.6 It was later suggested that a commercial helicopter service could operate between 
Torbay, Exeter, Plymouth and London.  Whilst this may have gained support from 
the local businesses and the Local Enterprise Partnership, it was difficult to 
understand where funding could come from. 
 

1.7 The work initiated by spatial planning officers and the Torbay Development Agency 
(TDA) was not sufficiently detailed in order to make a decision or judgement as to 
the need or appropriate location for such development.  
 

1.8 Currently informal landing sites exist on Walls Hill and Daddyhole Plain.  The 
emergency services also have a landing site at Torbay Hospital as well using a 
nearby playing pitch for larger aircraft. 
 

1.9 No work has been carried out on a business case or to better understand the need, 
and neither is there a detailed understanding of the suitability of any location. 
 

1.10 Neither the provision of a site, or the service, is included within the Devon and 
Torbay Local Transport Plan Strategy (2011-2026).  However, the opportunity was 
consulted on (at Gallows Gate) as part of the Local Transport Implementation Plan 
(2016-2021) process.  It received very little public support.  The adopted version of 
the Plan does however illustrate some schemes which could be delivered, and this 
includes “Projects which support Mayoral manifesto commitments”. 
 

1.11 The Economic Strategy and Local Plan do not specifically set out the need or 
requirements for a Helipad in Torbay; however it could be determined against 
existing policies in the Local Plan. 
 

1.12 Officers do not have the expertise, resource or capacity to undertake a feasibility 
study for a Helipad.  An estimated cost to complete this is £10,000.  This could look 
at possible locations and construction costs. 
 

1.13 The other proposal is for a Light Rail System to Brixham. 
 

1.14 It is understood that some initial discussions have taken place with the Dartmouth 
Steam Railway Company but that there was no officer involvement in those 
discussions. 
 

1.15 The proposal is not included in the Local Plan, but any such proposal could be 
supported by certain existing policies.  It was not explicitly included because there 
are doubts over deliverability within the plan period and that the levels of growth in 
Brixham would not have supported the need.  There are also constraints in the 
area, particularly landscape designations of national importance. 
 

1.16 There is also not reference made in either the Local Transport Plan Strategy or 
Economic Strategy.  However, as with the Helipad, there is the potential to consider 
the opportunity through the Local Transport Implementation Plan. 

Page 23



 

 

1.17 Officers do not have the expertise, resource or capacity to undertake a feasibility 
study for a Light Rail system.  An estimated cost to complete this is £30,000.  This 
could look at possible routes and construction costs.  This is based on similar work 
that has been carried out elsewhere. 
 

1.18 Major transport funding for Transport is either directed through the Local Enterprise 
Partnership or direct from a Government competition.  The LEP funding is in high 
demand locally and it is unlikely, depending on the scale, that such a level of 
resource would be available for this work.  Any Government allocation would face 
competition from very significant, and often nationally important, proposals. 
 

1.19 The issues to be considered are the start and end points, the route, the standard of 
the track facility, other opportunities, and the need would have to be demonstrated. 
 

1.20 Alternative options may be more appropriate and cost effective.  This could see 
National Rail services extended beyond Paignton with connections at Churston, or 
a bus-way scheme which greatly reduced the time to travel by bus.  Either 
alternative solution would also need further work and assessment. 
 

1.21 Whilst a capital cost of works at the stage is unknown, it is likely to be very 
significant.  Similar schemes have only been successful where there is a very high 
demand and often the service would still require an ongoing subsidy. 

 
2. Reason for Proposal 
 
2.1 A decision needs to be taken on whether to continue feasibility work on both or 

either of the schemes and to agree how any such work will be funded. 
 
3. Recommendation(s) / Proposed Decision 
 
3.1 It is recommended that, given the level of financial cost necessary and the unlikely 

prospects of finding suitable capital funding for delivery, no further work is 
undertaken on a feasibility studies. 

 
3.2 This should not rule out the opportunity for the private sector to undertake feasibility 

work and to put forward a proposal themselves. 
 
3.3 Resources may allow for further discussions between the Spatial Planning and 

Devon Air Ambulance in respect of their needs for adequate facilities. 
 
3.4 A reduced level of financial resource may be appropriate when considering 

alternative options instead of light rail. 
 
Background Documents  
http://www.torbay.gov.uk/DemocraticServices/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=218&MId=6754
&Ver=4 
Overview and Scrutiny Board Minutes 
Record of Mayoral Decision 
Overview and Scrutiny Board Briefing Note 

Page 24

http://www.torbay.gov.uk/DemocraticServices/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=218&MId=6754&Ver=4
http://www.torbay.gov.uk/DemocraticServices/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=218&MId=6754&Ver=4


 

 

Meeting:  Policy Development and Decision Group (Joint Operations Team) 
 
Date:  23 November 2016 
 
Wards Affected:  All 
 
Report Title:  Modern Slavery Statement 

 
Is the decision a key decision?  No 
 
When does the decision need to be implemented?  Immediately 
 
Executive Lead Contact Details:  Cllr Derek Mills, Derek.Mills@torbay.gov.uk 
 
Supporting Officer Contact Details:  Anne-Marie Bond, Assistant Director, Corporate 
and Business Services, Tel:  01803 207160, Anne-Marie.Bond@torbay.gov.uk 
 

 
1. Proposal and Introduction 
 
1. The Modern Slavery Act 2015 places a duty and obligation on certain organisations to 

produce a public statement setting out the steps they have taken to ensure there is no 
modern slavery in their own business and their supply chains.  

 
Organisations are required to comply if they:- 

 

 Are a body corporate or a partnership; 

 Carry on a business, or part of a business in the UK; 

 Supply goods or services; and 

 Have an annual turnover of £36m or more 
 

2. Reason for Proposal 
 
2.1 The local authority meets the requirements of the Act is therefore legally required to 

publish a statement under the Modern Slavery Act.  
 
3. Recommendation(s) / Proposed Decision 
 
3.1 That the Modern Slavery Statement set out in Appendix 2 to the submitted report 

be approved. 
 
  

Page 25

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Derek.Mills@torbay.gov.uk
mailto:Anne-Marie.Bond@torbay.gov.uk


Appendices 
 
Appendix 1: Supporting Information and Impact Assessment 
Appendix 2: Modern Slavery Statement 
Appendix 3: Tackling Serious and Organised Crime – A Summary 
Appendix 4: Tackling Serious Organised Crime – Key Questions for Consideration 
Appendix 5: Tackling Serious Crime - Threat Summary 
Appendix 6: The Government’s Guidance – “Transparency in Supply Chains – a Practical 
Guide” 

Page 26



 
None 
 

Supporting Information and Impact Assessment 
 

Service / Policy: 
Human Resources, Community Safety and Procurement  

Executive Lead: Cllr Derek Mills 

Director / Assistant Director: Anne-Marie Bond and Fran Hughes 

 

Version: 1 Date: 2.11.16 Author: Jo Sandbrook 

 

 
Section 1:  Background Information 

 
1. 

 
What is the proposal / issue? 
 

The Modern Slavery Act 2015 places a duty and obligation on certain 
organisations to produce a public statement setting out the steps they have taken 
to ensure there is no modern slavery in their own business and their supply chains.   
 
Organisations are required to comply if they:- 

 Are a body corporate or a partnership; 

 Carry on a business, or part of a business in the UK; 

 Supply goods or services; and 

 Have an annual turnover of £36m or more. 
 

In addition to the new slavery law, there is also the issue of Organised Crime 
which has the potential to impact on a wide range of statutory and non statutory 
organisations.  
 
The Community Safety Partnership (CSP) has received an Organised Crime 
Local Profile (OCLP) on Modern Slavery and is soon to receive a further profile 
on Child Sexual Exploitation.  
 
OCLPs are produced by the police (at the request of the Home Office) and are 
the responsibility of the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC). Many PCCs 
throughout the UK have chosen to utilise CSPs as the local delivery 
mechanisms for reviewing OCLPs and co-ordinating local action.  
 
OCLPs will be produced covering a range of issues including cyber crime and 
fraud. 
 
See Appendix 3 – Tackling Serious and Organised Crime – A Summary 
See Appendix 4 – Tackling SOC – Key Questions for Consideration 

Appendix 1 

Page 27

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 
2.   

 
What is the current situation? 
 
The local authority’s annual turnover is in excess of the threshold and therefore it is 
legally required to publish a statement under the Modern Slavery Act. 
 
There are also legal recommendations in regard to how organisations must raise 
awareness of Modern Slavery and the duty to report any suspected cases extend 
to all organisational policies and practice. 
 
The Authority has a duty to carry out appropriate due diligence checks on suppliers 
and their supply chains to ensure they are slavery free. Crown Commercial Service 
is in the process of updating the national standard Pre-Qualification Questionnaire 
to include a question relating to convictions for slavery offences. However, this only 
requires suppliers to declare any convictions and does not cover what suppliers 
are doing to ensure they and their suppliers are slavery free.  
 
A review of all organisational information, policies and procedures will be required 
to ensure compliance with the Act.  Specific actions will relate to the following 
areas - HR, Safer Communities, Procurement, Children’s and Adult’s 
Safeguarding.  All other services/departments will need to undertake a review of 
their policies and practices to ensure that they are compliant and include reference 
to the Act where appropriate. 
 
Training is in place for Community Safety staff but consideration should also be 
given as to whether this could be included in the existing Safeguarding module on 
iLearn and/or whether additional face-to-face training is provided for all staff. 
 
In terms of partnership work, the CSP has never received an OCLP and the issue 
of Modern Slavery is relatively an ‘unknown quantity’ in Torbay. This year the Chief 
Constable co-ordinated a joint Modern Slavery conference with our local authority 
and Devon County Council to raise the profile of the issue and encourage co-
ordinated local action.  

 
3. 

 
What options have been considered? 
 
NA – the CSP must consider the OCLP.  
 
As this is a legal requirement for the local authority, there are no options to 
consider. 

 
4. 

 
How does this proposal support the ambitions and principles of the 
Corporate Plan 2015-19? 
 
This activity supports the principles of the corporate plan to safeguard adults and 
children and ensure Torbay remains a safe place for residents and visitors.  

Page 28



 
5. 

 
Who will be affected by this proposal and who do you need to consult with? 
 
The public, stakeholders, Elected Members, members of the partnership, adults 
and children’s safeguarding boards and the Health and Wellbeing Board will need 
to understand the contents of the OCLP and support the development of a co-
ordinated local action plan in response.  
 
Council and partner employees – communications/awareness raising and training 
required. 

6. How will you propose to consult? 
 
The OCLP is not a public document but will need to be circulated to a wide range 
of partners and external stakeholders including the third sector. This activity will be 
co-ordinated by the CSP.  
 
Consultation with local authority employees will be via the Torbay JCC.  
Employees of other agencies/organisations will be via partnership board meetings, 
as appropriate. 

 
 

 
Section 2:  Implications and Impact Assessment 

 
7. 

 
What are the financial and legal implications? 
 

Non-compliance with the Modern Slavery Act could result in a High Court 
injunction to comply and/or an unlimited fine. 
 
The local authority also has statutory duties relating to Serious and Organised 
Crime and Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act and a duty to ensure that 
crime and community safety is considered in all its decisions.  

 
8.   

 
What are the risks? 
 

The authority must be confident in its ability to respond to Modern Slavery. 
Failure to respond appropriately could result in the authority facing challenge, 
negative publicity and scrutiny.  
 
The authority must also be confident that it has sufficient 
polices/processes/systems in place to safeguard against the corruption of its 
staff into serious and organised crime.   
 
See Appendix 5 – Tackling Serious Crime - Threat Summary 

Page 29



 
9. 

 
Public Services Value  (Social Value) Act 2012  

 

The authority must be satisfied that its procurement processes reflect Modern 
Slavery and liaison has commenced with the corporate procurement team.  

 
10. 

 
What evidence / data / research have you gathered in relation to this 
proposal? 

 
The primary document for consideration at this stage is the OCLP itself which 
displays data relating to the possible scale of Modern Slavery within Torbay. The 
document identifies risk factors and makes recommendations as to how locally 
those risks could/should be mitigated.  
 
See Appendix 6 - The Government’s Guidance – “Transparency in Supply 
Chains – a Practical Guide”  

 
11. 

 
What are key findings from the consultation you have carried out? 
 

The local authority must comply with the Act and has already published a 
statement however this should also be signed by the Mayor.    
 
The Authority must also build appropriate assessment of potential suppliers and 
monitoring of supplier compliance with the legislation into its procurement and 
contract management processes. 

 
12. 

 
Amendments to Proposal / Mitigating Actions 
 
NA.  

 

Page 30



Slavery and Human 
Trafficking Statement 
 

 

 

1 
 

Torbay Council fully supports the implementation of the Modern Slavery Act 2015. The Act consolidates 

slavery and trafficking offences, introduces tougher penalties and sentencing rules and provides more support 

for victims.  

Torbay Council’s Procurement processes encourage fair pay and working conditions in our supply chain and 

eliminate modern slavery and human trafficking. These processes are documented on Torbay Council’s 

website and internally via its intranet page for all its staff:-  http://www.torbay.gov.uk/procurement 

Torbay Council is part of the Safer Communities Torbay Partnership working with Devon and Cornwall Police 

and other agencies and also with Partners across the South West to develop a collaborative approach to 

tacking the issue of modern slavery. 

Modern slavery includes:  

 Forced labour Victims are forced to work against their will, often working very long hours for little or no 
pay in dire conditions under verbal or physical threats of violence.  

 Debt bondage Victims are forced to work to pay off debts that realistically they never will be able to.  

 Sexual exploitation Victims are forced to perform non-consensual or abusive sexual acts against their 
will, such as prostitution, escort work and pornography. Adults are coerced often under the threat of force, 
or another penalty.  

 Criminal exploitation Often controlled and maltreated, victims are forced into crimes such as cannabis 
cultivation or pick pocketing against their will.  

 Domestic servitude Victims are forced to carry out housework and domestic chores in private households 
with little or no pay, restricted movement, very limited or no free time and minimal privacy often sleeping 
where they work.  

Torbay Council expects its joint venture partnerships, contractors, suppliers and its staff falling in scope of this 

legislation to be aware of and comply with the requirements of the Act. To support this, the Council will 

implement communication and education programmes and will make changes to its key policies and 

procedures which will highlight the requirements of the Modern Slavery Act, high risk areas in Torbay and 

referral mechanisms.  

Torbay Council will continue to consider the impact of the Act’s requirements and the actions it will take 

beyond communication and education programmes to ensure there is no Modern Slavery in its business or in 

its supply chain.  This policy will be reviewed and updated annually. 

 

 

 

Gordon Oliver, Mayor   Anne-Marie Bond, Assistant Director – Corporate and Business Services 

Date:  23 November 2016                      

Further guidance is available on the Safer Communities Torbay Website:- http://www.torbay.gov.uk/health-

and-wellbeing/protect-someone/slavery/ 
Page 31

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 2

http://www.torbay.gov.uk/procurement


1 
 

Tackling Serious and Organised Crime  
 

a summary of ‘tackling serious and organised crime – a local 
response’ by the Local Government Association 

 
 
Serious and Organised Crime (SOC) is perpetrated by Organised Crime Groups (OCGs). These groups 
use intimidation, violence and corruption for unlawful gain. The criminals involved will often prey on 
vulnerable individuals and communities to profit financially or otherwise.  
 
OCGs undertake the following criminal activities:  
 

 The organised supply and distribution of drugs. 

 Theft and robbery. 

 Organised Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE), including the sharing of indecent images of 
children online.  

 Human trafficking and modern slavery. 

 Fraud and other forms of financial crime.  

 The supply of firearms or other weapons and counterfeit goods.  

 Cyber crime and cyber-enabled crime, including online grooming, harassment and stalking.  
 
As a local authority we need to understand our local vulnerabilities to SOC and address them 
through integrated multi-agency action plans.  
 
Guidance states that we should work with the police and others to:  
 

 identify and safeguard vulnerable adults  exploited by OCGs 

 tackle child sexual exploitation, especially where there is clear organised criminality 

 protect communities from cyber enabled crime such as fraud 

 use local regulation and licensing and powers to disrupt OCGs 

 use taxis/private hire vehicles or licensed premises to share essential community intelligence  

 tackle those selling counterfeit or illicit goods which may be linked to wider, more organised 
criminality  

 

What is an Organised Crime Group? 
 
Three or more persons who act together with the intent to carry out criminal activities.  
 

What do these groups look like? 
 
Groups all operate differently. Organisations can run networks that undertake criminal activity 
across international, national and county borders. Some groups are less organised and engage in 
criminal offences that require less professional competence (e.g. low level drug supply and 
distribution).  
 

Page 32

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 3



2 
 

The internet, low cost transport and international supply chains have made it easier and less risky to 
do business. In particular it has resulted in the spread of cyber crime and the proliferation of online 
streaming of real-time child sexual exploitation and abuse.  
 

What’s the difference between and OCG and a gang? 
 
There is an overlap across the activities or OCGs and gangs. Gangs tend to be less organised and 
more concerned with perpetuating a threat of violence or harm within a specific geographical area. 
The main difference is the level of criminality, group organisation, planning and control.  
 

How do individuals get involved in SOC? 
 
There are factors that increase the likelihood of an individual participating in organised crime. The 
Home Office has identified four categories of risk factor that can put people at greater risk.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Guidance states that partners should work together and share intelligence and knowledge to 
identify individuals who may be at risk in order to intervene with them at an early stage as early 
identification, followed by mitigating action, can prevent some individuals from serious and 
organised criminality as well as deterring reoffending.  
 
 

Who are the perpetrators of Organised Crime? 
 
The majority of organised crime offenders are men and from all different backgrounds. What is 
unique about OCGs is that perpetrators often identify themselves as a part of a wider network and 
not as an individual perpetrator i.e. they see the bigger criminal picture. 
 

Page 33



3 
 

 The composition of some OCGs reflects the traditional view of OCGs, namely: 

 familial based and highly organised 

 single criminal activity type 

 use of a high level of both threat and actual violence 

 corruption of professionals  

 largely motivated by profit, criminality is converted to cash and subsequently laundered. 
 
The longstanding values and close family connections of traditional OCGs mean they are harder to 
disrupt and tackle. The majority of their business involves controlling drug trafficking and associated 
markets. 
 
There is a changing landscape, which is reflected more commonly in OCGs, for example, they: 
 

 have multiple crime type operations, where one element of criminality often funds or re-
enforces another  

 operate a loose network of criminal associates, based on trust and mutual cooperation 
fulfilling different roles within the group 

 have no boundaries regarding criminal associations 

 make use of professional (finance, law, technology) enablers for criminal activity 

 are highly adept at exploiting new and emerging technology 

 continually seek early identification of potential new criminal opportunities from the above, 

 are motivated by profit, used to support overt ‘glamorous lifestyles’ to reflect status 
 

Who are the victims of SOC? 
 
Victims include local people, communities and businesses. The sole purpose of SOC is personal gain. 
Communities can be harmed by:  
 

 the supply and distribution of drugs within communities that harm users and can also impact 
on the local environment  

 putting children and young people at risk of child sexual exploitation, online grooming or 
exposure to adult or illicit material online 

 fraud, identity theft and other forms of financial crime can harm the wellbeing of individuals 
within a community 

 the supply of firearms or other weapons to threaten or harm individuals 

 support, enable or profit from human trafficking and modern slavery 
 

The national policy context  
 
The national strategy uses the framework that has been developed for national counter- terrorist 
work and has four thematic pillars, often referred to as the 4Ps:  
 

 PURSUE - prosecuting and disrupting people engaged in serious and organised crime  

 PREVENT - preventing people from engaging in this activity  

 PROTECT - increasing protection against serious and organised crime  

 PREPARE - reducing the impact of this criminality where it takes place  
 

 
 

Page 34



4 
 

New powers to tackle SOC 
 
In 2015, the Serious Crime Act improved the legislative powers available to local partners to tackle 
serious and organised crime. They include a new offence of participating in the activities of an 
organised crime group and a strengthened preventative capability through Serious Crime Protection 
Orders.  
 
The new participation offence, which applies in England and Wales, carries the potential to 
prosecute effectively the full spectrum of criminality engaged in organised crime. The serious crime 
prevention order (‘SCPO’) is intended for use against those involved in the most serious offences, 
including drugs trafficking, fraud and money laundering.  
 
The SCPO is a court order that is used to protect the public by preventing, restricting or disrupting a 
person’s involvement in serious crime. Breach of this order is a criminal offence. These enforcement 
powers will tackle serious and organised crime in a more complete way, capable of addressing the 
complexity of organised crime. We should work alongside law enforcement agencies, sharing 
relevant intelligence, to make the best use of these new powers to disrupt and halt such crime. 
 

The role of the local authority and others in tackling SOC 
 
Under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act councils have a responsibility to do all that they 
reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in their area. Publically commissioned private and 
voluntary sector providers must also contribute to prevention efforts through due diligence and 
information sharing to protect communities from serious and organised crime.  
 
Established community safety partnerships (CSPs) are well placed to lead on the strategic 
coordination of this activity. These partnerships have a statutory duty to: reduce reoffending; tackle 
crime and disorder; anti-social behaviour; alcohol and substance misuse; and any other behaviour 
which has a negative effect on the local environment.  
 
These partnerships also have access to a wealth of powers available to councils and partners that 
can disrupt the activity of local OCGs. Just within a council: Trading Standards, planning 
enforcement, licensing, environmental health, anti-social behaviour and safeguarding powers can 
minimise the harm of OCGs on local people and communities.  
 

What can the local authority do? 
 
Disruption activity relies on good, appropriate information sharing between local partner agencies. 
Local multi-agency partnership arrangements such as community safety partnerships (CSPs), serious 
and organised crime partnerships (SOCPs), multi-agency safeguarding hubs (MASH) and multi-
agency risk assessment conferences (MARAC) are likely to hold valuable intelligence that can aid law 
enforcement agencies to pursue organised crime groups and individual perpetrators. 
 
We should work with partners to further understand the pathways and vulnerability factors that 
may result in individuals participating in organised crime and put interventions in place.  
 
One local intervention already in place is the Troubled Families programme. We should discuss the 
Prevent strand with our local Troubled Families programme manager to discuss any cross-over 
activity. 
 

Page 35



5 
 

Councils have a responsibility to ensure communities are protected from such crime and build 
resilience within communities themselves so that they too can deter and disrupt serious and 
organised crime. Guidance states that councils may wish to consider:  
 

 raising local awareness about serious and organised crime and its impact on local 
communities and businesses  

 mapping the tools and support available to communities to help them protect themselves 

 building resilience and developing protective controls within councils where they might be 
vulnerable to fraud, bribery and corruption 

 working with local victim’s services to ensure that there are adequate pathways of support 
for those who may take some time to seek, engage and accept help  

 
 
Bidding for public service contracts is attractive to OCGs who may seek to benefit from public 
procured services in different ways, including to raise money through fraudulent activity or to use 
businesses offering public services to launder illicit profits.  
 
Controls and safeguards that deter, detect and investigate both internal and external fraud must 
remain resilient with more frequent or substantial procurement of services. More information can 
be found in Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-
centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally.  
 
 

The role of the Community Safety Partnership  
 
The national Serious and Organised Crime Strategy requires Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs) 
to establish local partnership groups to lead multi-agency work to disrupt and minimise harm from 
organised criminal groups. However PCCs have the discretion to decide whether to establish new 
arrangements or to look to existing partnership structures.  
 
Some may feel that existing partnerships can take on this responsibility. CSPs are well established 
partnerships where SOC is already discussed in a number of areas and should be closely involved in 
any work aimed at tackling SOC.  
 

Organised Crime Local Profiles and Partnerships  
 
In November 2014, guidance was issued by the Home Office 
which asked each police force to produce a Local Profile of 
the threats from serious and organised crime in their area. 
The profile should include input from a range of local 
partners to ensure a comprehensive picture is developed, 
along with a 4P action plan for tackling the OCGs at the local 
level.  
 
In addition, PCCs were asked to develop serious and 
organised crime partnership boards in their area. One 
response to this request has been the expansion of the CSP 
agenda to cover serious and organised crime, whereas in 
other areas new boards have been developed for this 
purpose. Councils can significantly contribute local 
intelligence via the Troubled Families programme, 

Page 36

http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally
http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally


6 
 

Community Safety Partnerships and health data from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA).  
 
The local profiles should make clear recommendations to deal with any identified threats, 
vulnerabilities and risks. They should include appropriate background and contextual information so 
that recommendations can be translated into local actions. These should be considered by local 
partners so that an appropriate course of action can be instigated. The local partnership should 
develop the recommendations into an agreed set of actions with timescales, milestones and named 
owners. This should be used to inform the local serious and organised crime programme of actions 
to ensure that recommendations are acted upon locally by partner.  
 
In Torbay the Community Safety Partnership is imminently due to receive its Organised Crime Local 
Profile on Modern Slavery and a profile on Child Sexual Exploitation.  
 

How can the local authority and partnerships prevent residents and 
communities participating in SOC? 
 
Community safety partnerships (CSPs) and local safeguarding children boards (LSCBs) should work 
together to ensure there are integrated pathways of support for vulnerable children, good 
awareness amongst local practitioners and services available that can support children and young 
people away from this complex criminal activity.  

 
How can the local authority ensure the right controls and practices are in 
place to safeguard individuals? 
 
Councils must continue to work closely with partners to safeguard vulnerable individuals. This 
includes safeguarding both children and adults who may be vulnerable for many different reasons. 
Councils and partners need to be aware of the links between trafficking, sexual exploitation, 
prostitution, cuckooing and SOC.  
 
The relevant safeguarding pathways must be aware of these links and ensure that early intervention 
and support is offered as soon as possible. Information about potential or prolific perpetrators that 
pose a risk to vulnerable people should also be shared in appropriate settings such as local Serious 
and Organised Crime Partnerships or Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hubs (MASH). 
 

 
 

Page 37



1 
 

Tackling Serious and Organised 
Crime  

 

Key Questions for Consideration 
 
 

Community Safety Partnership  
 

 Is serious and organised crime considered in the local community safety plan? 

 Has the community safety partnership been involved in contributing to a Serious and 
Organised Crime Local Profile? 

 Are partners involved in a multi-agency approach to tackle local serious and organised 
crime?  

 How involved are partners outside the immediate CSP members in tackling serious and 
organised crime? 

 Is there a community engagement strategy to raise awareness about serious and organised 
crime? 

 Is the CSP used as the serious and organised crime partnership board? If not, how is the CSP 
engaging with the local serious and organised crime partnership?  

 How have local partners from the public, private and voluntary sector being engaged with 
when tackling serious and organised crime? 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 

 What is the prevalence and threat of serious and organised crime within our local area? 

 How does the Police and Crime Plan tackle serious and organised crime? 

 How has the council responded to the threats identified in the Local Profile? 

 How have you assessed the threat to public sector organisations / councils from Serious and 
Organised Crime in the area? 

 Who are we collaborating with to make the greatest impact on the threat of serious and 
organised crime? 

 How are we raising awareness of the threats and risks of serious and organised crime across 
the council? 

 What services are available for victims of serious and organised crime? 

 What specialist support is available to those who have suffered significantly as a result of 
serious and organised crime? 

 Do we have a community engagement strategy to raise awareness about the risks and harm 
of serious and organised crime?  

 How are we reducing our own (the councils’) vulnerability to Serious and Organised Crime? 
 

Health and Wellbeing Boards 
 

 Have community safety issues been considered as a part of the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA)? To what extent does the JSNA assess the health impact of serious and 
organised crime in the area? 

Page 38

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 4



2 
 

 To what extent has the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) made links between community 
safety strategy and wellbeing? 

 What is the process for reporting concerns regarding the impact of serious and organised 
crime on local communities to the health and wellbeing board? 

 How well are partners, in particular community safety partnerships and health and wellbeing 
boards, working together to respond to cross cutting issues?  

 How do they identify individuals at risk and who do they refer them to? 
 

Directors of Public Health  
 

 To what extent does the JSNA make links to the impact of serious and organised crime on 
health? 

 Are responses to key cross cutting issues in respect of serious and organised crime 
referenced in both health and wellbeing and community safety plans? For example, the 
prevalence of illicit drug use or human trafficking. 

 Are public health employees aware of the links between drug use and serious and organised 
crime? Is there guidance on how frontline professionals should respond? 

 Have you considered community campaigns to demonstrate these links and the risks 
involved? 

 

Local Children’s Safeguarding Boards  
 

 Is there a policy or action plan in place to protect children and young people from serious 
and organised crime? Is this a stand-alone policy, or part of a broader strategy (ie 
community safety)? 

 How does the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB) measure the impact of these 
policies? 

 What training is available for social workers and partner agencies on serious and organised 
crime? How does the LSCB measure the effectiveness of the training? 

 To what extent do LSCB partners engage with the issue and impact of serious and organised 
crime on children and young people, including their vulnerability to being groomed to 
engage and participate? 

 What are our joint working procedures for dealing with children and young people who 
engage in criminal activities, including serious and organised crime? 

 Has the impact of serious and organised crime on children and young people been discussed 
at the LSCB, and what was the outcome of that discussion? 

 How has the LSCB ensured that multi-agency work on gangs, serious organised crime and 
CSE is sufficiently joined up? 

 Have links to serious and organised crime been considered as part of the council’s response 
to child sexual exploitation? 

 What support is available to children and young people affected by serious and organised 
crime? 

 How do we support young people to cease their involvement in criminal activity? How do 
these services account for a diversity of need? 

 

Directors of Children’s Services  
 

 To what extent are local children and young people at risk of engaging in serious and 
organised crime? 

 Are some children more at risk of participating in organised criminal activity than others? 
Can you identify them? 

Page 39



3 
 

 Which partners could help you to identify children and young people at risk of engaging in 
serious and organised crime, or those that already are? 

 

 other council departments (Troubled Families, social care, youth offending teams) 

 schools and education settings 

 police 

 health professionals 

 voluntary and community organisations 

 members of the public 

 other? 
 

 What services are in place to help prevent children from engaging in serous and organised 
crime? 

 Are staff and social workers aware of the nature of serious and organised crime and 
associated signs of involvement?  

 

Local Adults Safeguarding Boards  
 

 Is there a policy or action plan in place to protect vulnerable adults from serious and 
organised crime? Is this a stand-alone policy, or part of a broader strategy (ie community 
safety)? 

 How does the Adults Safeguarding Board measure the impact of these policies? 

 What training is available for frontline staff on serious and organised crime? How does the 
SAB measure the effectiveness of the training? 

 To what extent do SAB partners engage with the issue and impact of serious and organised 
crime on vulnerable adults, including their vulnerability to being exploited, groomed to 
engage or participate? 

 Has the impact of serious and organised crime on vulnerable adults been discussed at the 
SAB, and what was the outcome of that discussion? 

 How has the SAB ensured that multi-agency work serious organised crime is sufficiently 
joined up? 

 What support is available to vulnerable adults affected by serious and organised crime? 
How do these services account for a diversity of need? 

 
Councillors  
 

 Am I confident that the council has procedures and controls against fraud, including 
procurement fraud, and that these are reviewed regularly, and staff can identify fraudulent 
activity including high risk processes? 

 Am I confident that council staff and councillors are aware of the risks of bribery and 
corruption, including employees that maybe be targeted for their professional skills e.g. 
accountancy, law and technology? 

 Does the council have procurement and commissioning policies that highlight the 
responsibilities of a third party to protect themselves against serious and organised crime? 

 Does the council have clear reporting or whistleblowing policies, and do we undertake 
‘mystery whistle-blower’ tests to check the effectiveness of the policies? 

 Do I know how to escalate any concerns I may identify within my own ward? 

 Have I viewed our area’s Organised Crime Local Profiles? 
 

Page 40



1 
 

Tackling Serious and Organised Crime  
 

Threat Summary – taken from a ‘tackling serious and organised crime – a local response’ by the Local 
Government Association 

 
National Serious 
and Organised 
Crime Threat 

What is the threat? Key concerns for councils Key stakeholders Positive action councils can take 

Organised 
immigration crime 
and human 
trafficking 
(including  
modern slavery) 
 

 The involvement of organised  
crime in illegal immigration to 
the UK by air, land or sea 
(excluding the near continent).  

 

 The trafficking of human beings 
into, out of or within the UK. 

 

 Organised crime involved  
in clandestine people smuggling  
through priority nexus points to 
the UK border. 

 

 The production and/or supply 
of false travel or supporting 
documents to support 
organised immigration crime.  

 

 Organised crime involved in 
organised immigration crime, 
including marriage abuse or 
other legitimate means to 
remain in the UK. 

 
 
 

 Health and wellbeing of 
victims of human trafficking, 
including modern slavery. 

 

 Impact on local public 
services.  

 

 Community safety 
partnerships  
(CSPs) 

 

 Police / PCCs  
 

 Local public protection 
services including, licensing 
and Trading Standards 

 

 Housing and street 
population services 

 

 Immigration and Border 
Enforcement 

 

 UK Human Trafficking 
Centre  

 

 Work with partners to share local 
intelligence.  

 

 Raise awareness about the signs of 
immigration crime and human trafficking, 
including how to report a safeguarding 
concern or crime. 

 

 Monitor those at risk of offending and 
manage the most dangerous criminals and 
the risks they present. 

 

 Work with emergency planning teams to 
support victims who may be rescued at 
short notice. 

 

 Raise awareness of sham marriages or 
signs of forced marriage with local 
registrars. 

 

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 9
A

ppendix 5



2 
 

National Serious 
and Organised 
Crime Threat 

What is the threat? Key concerns for councils Key stakeholders Positive action councils can take 

Cyber Crime  
(This includes 
cyber-enabled 
crime and cyber-
dependent crime). 
 

 Phishing: bogus emails asking 
for security information and 
personal details. 

 

 Webcam and Screenshot  
manager: where criminals 
takeover.  

 

 File hijacker: where criminals 
hijack files and hold them to 
ransom. 

 

 Keylogging: where criminals 
record what you type on your 
keyboard. 

 

 Ad clicker: allows a criminal to 
direct a victim’s computer to 
click a specific link. 

 

 Hacking in computer accounts 
and information  

 

 Distributed Denial of Service 
(DDOS) attacks – remote shut-
down of online service eg  call 
centres or access to critical 
data. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Protecting local communities, 
consumers and businesses 
from cyber crime. 

 

 Risk to council services from 
cyber crime.  

 

 Council services supporting 
victims of cyber crime eg 
Trading Standards. 

 

 Supporting communities to be 
resilient against cyber crime. 

 

 Community safety 
partnerships 

 

 Police / PCCs  
 

 Probation  
 

 Local public protection 
services including, licensing 
and Trading Standards. 

 

 National Crime Agency – 
National Cyber Crime Unit 
(NCCU) 
 

 Work with partners, and financial 
institutions, to share local intelligence of 
trends of financial crime and perpetrators. 

 

 Encourage communities  
to protect and secure their online 
transactions and communications. 

 

 Raise awareness of cyber crime amongst 
communities and its potential impact. 

 

 Encourage people to report  
unusual activity that could be cyber crime 
to the Police. 

 

P
age 42



3 
 

National Serious 
and Organised 
Crime Threat 

What is the threat? Key concerns for councils Key stakeholders Positive action councils can take 

Drugs   Supply of heroin to the UK 
market 

 

 Supply of cocaine to the UK 
market 

 

 Production and supply of 
synthetic drugs to the UK  

 market, including new 
psychoactive substances. 

 

 Cultivation and supply of  
cannabis for the UK market 

 

 Health and wellbeing impact 
on drug users.  

 

 Impact on the health and 
wellbeing of local 
communities and families.  

 

 Increase in drug related crime 
Activity.  

 

 Public Health  
 

 Community safety 
partnerships  
(CSPs) 

 

 Police / PCCs  
 

 Probation  
 

 Education 
 

 National Crime Agency –  
Organised Crime Command 

 
  

 Work with partners to ensure the safety 
and wellbeing of all through local 
partnerships. 

 

 Work with drug and alcohol support 
services to share intelligence about the 
supply and distribution of illicit drugs. 

 

 Use local powers to disrupt the supply and 
distribution of drugs, eg through closure 
notices or public space protection orders. 

 

 Raise awareness of the connection 
between drugs and organised crime to 
prevent engagement. 

 

Economic crime 
 
Money laundering 
is considered a high 
priority risk in its 
own right  

 Fraud against the individual, the 
private, and third sectors. 

 

 Fraud against the public sector 
(including fiscal fraud). 

 

 Bribery, corruption and 
sanctions evasion  

 

 Market abuse / insider dealing  
 

 Money laundering and  
criminal finance  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Health and wellbeing of 
victims of economic crime. 

 

 Financial impact on victims of 
economic crime, including 
loss of assets or financial 
security  

 

 Impact on local business  
growth and sustainability.  

 

 Reputation of a safe business 
and trading  
environment  

 

 Community safety  
partnerships (CSPs) 

 

 Police / PCCs  
 

 Probation  
 

 Local public protection  
services including, licensing 
and Trading Standards. 

 

 National Crime Agency – 
Economic Crime Command 
 

 Work with partners, and financial 
institutions, to share local intelligence of 
trends of financial crime and perpetrators. 

 

 Encourage communities to protect and 
secure their financial information and to 
check for irregular activity. 

 

 Monitor those at risk of offending and 
manage the most dangerous criminals and 
the risks they present 
 

P
age 43



4 
 

National Serious 
and Organised 
Crime Threat 

What is the threat? Key concerns for councils Key stakeholders Positive action councils can take 

Organised 
acquisitive crime 

 Organised vehicle crime 

 Commodity – based criminality 
(gold, rhino horn) Metal theft 
and Wildlife crime 

 Health and wellbeing of 
victims of theft 

 Impact on local business 
growth and sustainability 

 Reputation of a safe business 
environment.  

 Community safety  
partnerships (CSPs) 

 

 Police / PCCs  
 

 Probation  
 

 Local public protection  
services including, licensing 
and Trading Standards. 

 

 National Crime Agency – 
Economic Crime Command 
 

 Work with partners to share local 
intelligence.  

 Encourage communities to protect and 
secure their properties.  

 Raise awareness of commodity based 
crime and its impact.  

 Encourage businesses to secure sties 
where there is a risk of metal theft.  

 

P
age 44



Transparency in Supply Chains etc.	
A practical guide 

Guidance issued under section 54(9) of the Modern Slavery Act 2015Page 45

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 6



Page 46



Transparency in Supply Chains etc.	
A practical guide 

Page 47



Page 48



Contents

Foreword	 2

1. Introduction	 3

2. The Modern Slavery Act 2015	 5

3. Who is required to comply? 	 7

4. Writing a slavery and human trafficking statement	 9

5. The Structure of a Statement	 11

6. Commencing the provision	 12

7. Approving a statement	 14

8. Publishing a statement	 15

9.Responding to an incidence of modern slavery	 16

Annex A 
Modern Slavery Definition	 18

Annex B 
Section 54 - Transparency in supply chains etc	 20

Annex C 
Example of a group structure with a subsidiary based abroad	 23

Annex D 
The Act in the context of other reporting requirements	 25

Annex E 
Information in a slavery and human trafficking statement	 27

Annex F 
UK Modern Slavery Adult Victim support providers	 38

Annex G 
Useful Information and Resources	 40

Page 49



2	 Transparency in Supply Chains etc. A practical guide

Modern slavery is a heinous crime that affects communities and individuals across the globe.  That is why 
the transparency in supply chains provision in the Modern Slavery Act 2015 is so vital in our fight against 
this evil.  A truly groundbreaking provision, the transparency measure will require businesses to be 
transparent about what they are doing and will increase competition to drive up standards. 

I want to support, motivate and incentivise organisations to understand the complex issue of modern 
slavery and how they can tackle it.  Organisations with significant resources and purchasing power are in a 
unique and very strong position to influence global supply chains.  

It is simply not acceptable for any organisation to say, in the twenty-first century, that they did not know.  It 
is not acceptable for organisations to ignore the issue because it is difficult or complex.  And, it is certainly 
not acceptable for organisations to put profit above the welfare and wellbeing of its employees and those 
working on its behalf.

We must take a strong and collective stand to stop the callous and brutal individuals who are prepared to 
abuse men, women and children for their own personal gain.   I know that many large global organisations 
are already tackling this issue head on but we must not let our guard down.

By increasing supply chain accountability, more workers will be protected and consumers will have greater 
confidence in the goods and services they buy.  That is why the transparency in supply chains provision is 
world leading and will bring about the change that is so vitally needed.  

I am most grateful to the range of organisations and trade bodies who have contributed to the 
development of this important guidance.

Rt Hon Theresa May MP

Home Secretary 

Home Secretary Foreword

Page 50



3

1. Introduction

1.1	 Modern slavery is a crime resulting in an abhorrent abuse of human rights. It is constituted in the 
Modern Slavery Act 2015 by the offences of ‘slavery, servitude and forced or compulsory labour’ and 
‘human trafficking’. A full definition of modern slavery is included at Annex A. 

1.2	 Many organisations are already taking action to promote ethical business practices and policies that 
protect workers from being abused and exploited in their own organisation and global supply chains.

1.3	 However, there are still far too many people in the world being 
treated as commodities. There are also far too many organisations 
ignoring such abuses or who are knowingly responsible for policies 
and practices that result in workers being subjected to modern slavery 
in their operations. 

1.4	 The Government has introduced a provision in the Modern 
Slavery Act 2015 which requires certain businesses to produce a 
statement setting out the steps they have taken to ensure there is no 
modern slavery in their own business and their supply chains. If an organisation has taken no steps to do 
this, their statement should say so. The measure is designed to create a level playing field between those 
businesses, whose turnover is over a certain threshold, which act responsibly and those that need to 
change their policies and practices.  However, the Government wants to encourage businesses to do 
more, not just because they are legally obliged to, but also because they recognise it is the right thing to 
do.  

1.5	 One key purpose of this measure is to prevent modern slavery in organisations and their supply 
chains. A means to achieve this is to increase transparency by ensuring the public, consumers, 
employees and investors know what steps an organisation is taking to tackle modern slavery.  Those 
organisations already taking action can quickly and simply articulate the work already underway and  
planned.   Organisations will need to build on what they are doing year on year.  Their first statements may 
show how they are starting to act on the issue and their planned actions to investigate or collaborate with 
others to effect change.

1.6	 This document sets out the basic requirements of the legislation, as well as advice on what can be 
included in a statement to give assurance to those scrutinising the statements. 

The Transparency in Supply Chains provision in the Modern Slavery Act seeks to address the 
role of businesses in preventing modern slavery from occurring in their supply chains and 
organisations.

Page 51



4	 Transparency in Supply Chains etc. A practical guide

1.7

This document provides guidance on how the Government expects organisations to develop 
a credible and accurate slavery and human trafficking statement each year and sets out 
what must be included in a statement. 

	 A focus on tackling modern slavery not only protects vulnerable workers and helps prevent and 
remedy severe human rights violations, it can bring a number of business benefits too.  These include: 

•	 protecting and enhancing an organisation’s reputation and brand; 

•	 protecting and growing the organisation’s customer base as more consumers seek out businesses 
with higher ethical standards; 

•	 improved investor confidence; 

•	 greater staff retention and loyalty based on values and respect; and 

•	 developing more responsive, stable and innovative supply chains.

1.8	 It is important for large organisations to be transparent and accountable, not just to investors but to 
other groups including employees, consumers and the public whose lives are affected by their business 
activity.  Due diligence processes and reporting are essential management tools that improve risk 
identification and long-term social, environmental as well as financial performance.  

1.9	 Reporting requirements can drive better strategic understanding of the risks and impacts of an 
organisation’s core activities in relation to the environment and human rights.  The disclosure of these 
management tools allows investors to move capital towards more sustainable, responsible organisations 
and strengthen the long-term ethical sustainability of the financial system.

Page 52



5

2.1	 Section 54 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 gives the Secretary of State the power to issue 
guidance. Section 54 is contained in Annex A.

2.2	 The provision in the Act requires that any commercial organisation in any sector, which supplies 
goods or services, and carries on a business or part of a business in the UK, and is above a specified total 
turnover, must produce a slavery and human trafficking statement for each financial year of the 
organisation.  For the purposes of this requirement, ‘supply chain’ has its everyday meaning. Regulations 
have set the total turnover threshold at £36m.  The statement must set out what steps they have taken 
during the financial year to ensure that modern slavery is not occurring in their supply chains and in their 
own organisation. Further information on calculating the turnover of an organisation is contained in 
Chapter 3.

2.3	 The Act specifically states that the statement must include ‘the steps the organisation has taken 
during the financial year to ensure that slavery and human trafficking is not taking place in any of its supply 
chains, and in any part of its own business’. When the Act refers to ensuring that slavery and human 
trafficking is not taking part in any part of its supply chain, this does not mean that the organisation in 
question must guarantee that the entire supply chain is slavery free. Instead, it means an organisation 
must set out the steps it has taken in relation to any part of the supply chain (that is, it should capture all 
the actions it has taken).

2.4	 The provision requires an organisation to be transparent about what is happening within its 
business. This means that if an organisation has taken no steps to ensure slavery and human trafficking is 
not taking place they must still publish a statement stating this to be the case.

2.5	 The Government encourages all businesses to develop an appropriate and effective response to 
modern slavery.  Businesses may choose to take further action over and above what is prescribed by the 
Act but this will be a decision for individual businesses themselves.  The provision seeks to create a race 
to the top by encouraging businesses to be transparent about what they are doing, thus increasing 
competition to drive up standards. 

Every organisation carrying on a business in the UK with a total annual turnover of £36m or 
more will be required to produce a slavery and human trafficking statement for each financial 
year of the organisation.

2. The Modern Slavery Act 2015

Page 53



6	 Transparency in Supply Chains etc. A practical guide

Failure to comply
2.6	 If a business fails to produce a slavery and human trafficking statement for a particular financial year 
the Secretary of State may seek an injunction through the High Court (or, in Scotland civil proceedings for 
specific performance of a statutory duty under section 45 of the Court of Session Act 1988) requiring the 
organisation to comply.  If the organisation fails to comply with the injunction, they will be in contempt of a 
court order, which is punishable by an unlimited fine.

2.7	 In practice failure to comply with the provision will mean the organisation has not produced a 
statement, published it on their website (where they have one) or has not set out the steps taken by the 
organisation in the relevant financial year.  This can include setting out that it has taken no such steps, or is 
just beginning investigations.  Whilst we would encourage clear, detailed and informative statements legal 
compliance does not turn on how well the statement is written or presented (provided that it sets out the 
steps taken or that no steps have in fact been taken).  

2.8	 We expect organisations to build on their statements year on year and for the statements to evolve 
and improve over time.  However, a failure to comply with the provision, or a statement that an 
organisation has taken no steps, may damage the reputation of the business. It will be for consumers, 
investors and Non-Governmental Organisations to engage and/or apply pressure where they believe a 
business has not taken sufficient steps.

Page 54



7

3.1	 Any organisation in any part of a group structure will be required to comply with the provision and 
produce a statement if they: 

•	 are a body corporate or a partnership (described as an “organisation” in this document), wherever 
incorporated;

•	 carry on a business, or part of a business, in the UK;

•	 supply goods or services; and  

•	 have an annual turnover of £36m or more. 

3.2	 Total turnover is calculated as:

a.	the turnover of that organisation; and

b.	the turnover of any of its subsidiary undertakings (including those operating wholly outside the UK).

3.3	 “Turnover” means the amount derived from the provision of goods and services falling within the 
ordinary activities of the commercial organisation or subsidiary undertaking, after deduction of—

a.	trade discounts;

b.	value added tax; and

c.	any other taxes based on the amounts so derived.

3.4	 If any organisation in any part of a group structure meets these requirements, it is legally required to 
produce a statement. Where a parent and one or more subsidiaries in the same group are required to 
produce a statement, the parent may produce one statement that subsidiaries can use to meet this 
requirement (provided that the statement fully covers the steps that each of the organisations required to 
produce a statement have taken in the relevant financial year). 

3.5	 A ‘commercial organisation’ is defined at section 54(12) as a body corporate or partnership which 
carries on a business, or part of a business, in the UK wherever that organisation was incorporated or 
formed. The key concept here is that of an organisation which ‘carries on a business’. The courts will be 
the final arbiter as to whether an organisation ‘carries on a business’ in the UK taking into account the 
particular facts in individual cases. However, the following paragraphs set out the Government’s intention 
as to how this should work. 

3. Who is required to comply? 

Page 55



8	 Transparency in Supply Chains etc. A practical guide

3.6	 There are many ways in which a body corporate or a partnership in the UK can pursue business 
objectives.  The Government expects that whether such a body or partnership can be said to be carrying 
on a business will be answered by applying a common sense approach. So long as the organisation in 
question is incorporated (by whatever means) or is a partnership, it does not matter if it pursues primarily 
charitable or educational aims or purely public functions. The organisation will be caught if it engages in 
commercial activities and has a total turnover of £36m - irrespective of the purpose for which profits are 
made. 

3.7	 As regards bodies incorporated, or partnerships formed, outside the United Kingdom, whether such 
bodies can properly be regarded as carrying on a business or part of a business ‘in any part of the United 
Kingdom’ will again be answered by applying a common sense approach. 

3.8	 However, we anticipate that applying a common sense approach will mean that organisations that 
do not have a demonstrable business presence in the United Kingdom will not be caught by the provision. 
Likewise, having a UK subsidiary will not, in itself, mean that a parent company is carrying on a business in 
the UK, since a subsidiary may act completely independently of its parent or other group companies.

Franchise models
3.9	 Some organisations operate under a franchise model. Where the turnover of a franchiser is above 
the £36m threshold they will be required to produce a slavery and human trafficking statement. In 
determining the total turnover of a business operating a franchise model, only the turnover of the 
franchiser will be considered.  The turnover of any franchisee using the franchiser’s trademark and 
distributing goods or providing services will not be used in calculating the franchiser’s turnover.  However, 
franchisers who meet the turnover threshold may wish to consider the impact on their brand of the 
activities of franchisees in relation to modern slavery, and in so doing report on the steps taken to ensure 
the franchise as a whole is free from modern slavery.

3.10	 Where the turnover of a franchisee is above the £36m threshold they will be required to produce a 
slavery and human trafficking statement in their own right.

Parent and Subsidiary organisations
3.11	 Each parent and subsidiary organisation (whether it is UK based or not) that meets the requirements 
set out in 3.1 above must produce a statement of the steps they have taken during the financial year to 
ensure slavery and human trafficking is not taking place in any part of its own business and in any of its 
supply chains. If a foreign subsidiary is part of the parent company’s supply chain or own business, the 
parent company’s statement should cover any actions taken in relation to that subsidiary to prevent 
modern slavery. Where a foreign parent is carrying on a business or part of a business in the UK, it will be 
required to produce a statement.

3.12	 There is nothing to prevent a foreign subsidiary or parent from producing a statement, even if they 
are not legally obliged to do so. This provision is all about improving transparency to prevent slavery and 
forced labour occurring. 

3.13	 If a parent company is seen to be ignoring the behaviour of its non-UK subsidiaries, this may still 
reflect badly on the parent company. As such, seeking to cover non-UK subsidiaries in a parent company 
statement, or asking those non-UK subsidiaries to produce a statement themselves (if they are not legally 
required to do so already), would represent good practice and would demonstrate that the company is 
committed to preventing modern slavery. This is highly recommended, especially in cases where the 
non-UK subsidiary is in a high-risk industry or location.  

Page 56



9

4.1	 The slavery and human trafficking statement will be a public-facing document.  To aid transparency 
the statement should be written in simple language that is easily understood (the Plain English Campaign 
is well placed to assist with this - http://www.plainenglish.co.uk/). The statement can be succinct but 
cover all the relevant points and provide appropriate links to relevant publications, documents or policies 
for the organisation.  

4.2	 The Government has not been prescriptive about the layout or specific content of a slavery and 
human trafficking statement.  It is up to organisations how they present information in the statement and 
how much detail they provide.  However, organisations must include in the statement all the steps they 
have taken.  The information presented in the statement will be determined by the organisation’s sector, 
the complexity of its structure and supply chains, or the particular sectors and nations its suppliers are 
working in. 

4.3

Top Tips

Keep the statement succinct but cover all the relevant points – if you can provide appropriate links to 
relevant publications, documents or policies for your organisation, do so.

Writing the statement in simple language will ensure that it is easily accessible to everyone.

The statement should be in English but may also be provided in other languages, relevant to the 
organisation’s business and supply chains.

Specifying actions by specific country will help readers to understand the context of any actions or 
steps taken to minimise risks.

	 An organisation may already be undertaking procedures or have specific policies (such as CSR or 
Ethical Trade activities) that go some way to addressing the issue of modern slavery and may already be 
disclosing this in some form (for example, via a strategic statement as required under Chapter 4A of the 
Companies Act 2006). Therefore, it is not necessary for an organisation to start from scratch. Any relevant 
material used in other related reports may be used in an organisation’s slavery and human trafficking 
statement. Statements should be true and refer to actual steps undertaken or begun.  

4.4	 It is not necessary for businesses to replicate the wording of an organisation’s policies on every issue 
directly in the statement.  Instead, a business may choose to support the narrative in the statement by 
providing relevant links to a particular document or policy that is publicly available and already published 
on the organisation’s website.

4. Writing a slavery and human trafficking 
statement

Page 57



10	 Transparency in Supply Chains etc. A practical guide

Case study

ITP (the International Tourism Partnership), part of Business in the Community, is a non-profit member 
organisation which brings the hotel sector together to collaborate on social and environmental issues. 
Since 2010, the organisation has run a human trafficking working group to raise awareness, share best 
practice and develop practical solutions to tackle the risk of human trafficking and modern day slavery 
in the hotel industry. Children and adults may be trafficked via hotels for sexual exploitation and the 
volume of lower-skilled jobs in the industry can provide an opportunity for unscrupulous individuals and 
agencies to put people into forced or bonded labour. ITP also provides an interface for dialogue with 
specialist organisations working in this area. Outputs to date include a Position Statement, Know How 
Guide and Guidelines for Checking Recruitment Agencies. Fran Hughes, ITP Director, says; 
“Collaboration on this issue has accelerated learning and action on this key issue and helped the hotel 
industry work together to develop resources and responses. I would urge other sectors to come 
together to see how they may work together and with their stakeholders to advance activity to address 
trafficking and slavery risk.” 

To access ITP’s resources, see:

 	 http://tourismpartnership.org/human-trafficking/ 

Page 58



11

5. The Structure of a Statement

5.1	 The Modern Slavery Act, does not dictate in precise detail what a statement must include or how it 
should be structured.  It does, however, provide a non-exhaustive list of information that may be included. 

5.2	 A statement may include information about:   

a.	the organisation’s structure, its business and its supply chains; 

b.	its policies in relation to slavery and human trafficking; 

c.	its due diligence processes in relation to slavery and human trafficking in its business and supply 
chains; 

d.	the parts of its business and supply chains where there is a risk of slavery and human trafficking 
taking place, and the steps it has taken to assess and manage that risk; 

e.	its effectiveness in ensuring that slavery and human trafficking is not taking place in its business or 
supply chains, measured against such performance indicators as it considers appropriate; 

f.	 the training and capacity building about slavery and human trafficking available to its staff.

5.3	 It is not compulsory for an organisation to include these points in its statement, (except in so far as 
these reflect the actual steps the organisation has taken during the financial year to ensure that slavery 
and human trafficking is not taking place in their supply chains or own business). These points provide 
guidance and examples as to the type of information to include in a statement so as to paint  a detailed 
picture of the steps the organisation has taken to address and remedy modern slavery, and the 
effectiveness of such steps. 

5.4	 Annex E provides information on the type of activity that could be included under each heading and 
why such information would be useful in a statement. This is intended as a guide only.

A statement must contain the steps an organisation has taken to prevent modern slavery in 
its supply chains and own business.

Page 59



12	 Transparency in Supply Chains etc. A practical guide

6. Commencing the provision

6.1	 The requirement for organisations to publish a statement was commenced on 29 October 2015.  
However, many organisations may not be in a position to produce a statement immediately. Therefore, 
transitional provisions have been included to allow organisations sufficient time to understand the 
requirement and produce a statement.  Businesses with a financial year-end date between 29 October 
and 30 March 2016 will not be required to publish a statement for that financial year of the organisation.

6.2	 Businesses with a year-end of 31 March 2016 will be the first businesses required to publish a 
statement for their 2015-16 financial year.  These organisations will be required to produce a statement 
covering the full financial year of the organisation.  However, where an organisation has only recently 
undertaken activities they may choose to produce a statement that indicates that activity undertaken 
covers a particular part of the financial year.  

6.3	 An organisation is required to complete a statement for each financial year (of that organisation) in 
which their turnover exceeds the specified threshold.  However, we strongly recommend that businesses 
who produce a slavery and human trafficking statement in one financial year should continue to produce a 
statement in future years even if their turnover has fallen below the £36m threshold.  Producing a regular 
annual statement will ensure organisations can build upon earlier statements and demonstrate to the 
public, consumers and investors that they are being transparent, not because they are required to do so 
but because they consider it important.

6.4	 To ensure the information contained is relevant and up to date, we expect organisations to publish 
their statements as soon as reasonably practicable after the end of each financial year in which they are 
producing the statement.  Organisations may well choose to publish the statement alongside any other 
annual or non-financial reports they are required to produce.  In practice, we would encourage 
organisations to report within six months of the organisation’s financial year end.

Example 1

Business V has a financial year-end of 30 November 2015.  The transparency provisions do not take effect 
in relation to financial years ending before 31 March 2016.  Business V, therefore, does not need to 
complete a statement for the financial year-end 30 November 2015.    Business V’s first statement will 
need to be produced for the financial year 1 December 2015 to 30 November 2016.

Example 2

Business W has a financial year end of 31 March 2016 and so is required to produce a statement for the 
current financial year.  Business W has undertaken a number of activities throughout the financial year 
relating to tackling modern slavery and wider human rights issues, including activity prior to the 

Businesses with a year-end of 31 March 2016 will be the first businesses required to publish 
a statement under the transparency provision.

Page 60



13

commencement of the provision.  Their statement should cover all the relevant activities undertaken by the 
organisation during the period 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016.

Example 3

Business X has a financial year-end of 30 April 2016 and so is required to produce a statement for the 
current financial year.  Business X has only started to undertake activities related to tackling modern 
slavery since the provision was commenced.  Their statement covers the financial year from 1 May 2015 
to 30 April 2016 but only details the activity undertaken since the transparency provision commenced in 
October 2015.  

Page 61



14	 Transparency in Supply Chains etc. A practical guide

7. Approving a statement

7.1	 The Modern Slavery Act requires a slavery and human trafficking statement to be approved and 
signed by an appropriate senior person in the business. This ensures senior level accountability, leadership 
and responsibility for modern slavery and gives it the serious attention it deserves. An organisation’s top 
management will be best placed to foster a culture in which modern slavery is not tolerated in any form. 
They need to lead and drive the measures required to address this problem throughout the business. 

7.2	 To effectively combat modern slavery, senior managers will need to ensure everyone in an 
organisation is alive to the risks of modern slavery. This is to ensure informed decisions are made in a 
timely way which mitigate and manage these risks, and to monitor the implementation of relevant policies. 
They will need to ensure credible evidence is used in identifying and reporting on human rights risks in 
supply chains, as well as to remedy workers and rectify problems where appropriate.

7.3	 The person who is required to sign the statement depends on the type of organisation.  For a body 
corporate (other than a limited liability partnership), the statement must be approved by the board of 
directors and signed by a director (or equivalent). Where the organisation is a limited liability partnership it 
must be approved by the members and signed by a designated member.  For a limited partnership, 
registered under the Limited Partnerships Act 1907, a general partner must sign it and if the organisation 
is any other kind of partnership, a partner must sign it.

The statement must be approved and signed by a director, member or partner of the 
organisation.

Page 62



15

8. Publishing a statement

8.1	 The Act requires each organisation to publish a slavery and human trafficking statement on their 
website and include a link in a prominent place on its homepage. The purpose of this measure is to 
increase transparency and it is vital that the statement can be easily accessible by anyone who wants to 
see it – the public, consumers, employees, NGOs or investors.  For organisations with no website, a copy 
of the statement is to be provided to anyone who requests one in writing. The copy must be provided to 
the requestor within 30 days of the receipt of the request, where a statement has been produced and is 
available.

8.2	 In some instances, where there is a complex organisational structure, an organisation may have 
more than one outward-facing website. For organisations where there is more than one website we 
recommend placing the statement on the most appropriate website relating to the organisations business 
in the UK.  Where there is more than one relevant website we recommend placing a copy of the statement 
or a link to the statement on each relevant website.  This will increase transparency and ensure recognition 
for the efforts the business is making.

8.3 	 The Act is clear that the link must be in a prominent place on the home page itself. A prominent 
place may mean a modern slavery link that is directly visible on the home page or part of an obvious 
drop-down menu on that page. The link should be clearly marked so that the contents are apparent. We 
recommend a link such as ‘Modern Slavery Act Transparency Statement’.

8.4	 Organisations should seek to publish their statement as soon as reasonably practicable after the 
end of their financial year. In practice, we would encourage organisations to report within six months of the 
organisation’s financial year end. Organisations may wish to publish these statements at the same time as 
they publish other annual accounts.

The statement must be published on an organisation’s website with a link in a prominent 
place on the homepage.

Page 63



16	 Transparency in Supply Chains etc. A practical guide

9.	 Responding to an incidence of modern 
slavery

9.1	 Modern slavery is extremely prevalent across the globe. The ILO estimates that there are 21 million 
people in forced labour in the world today.  It is important that businesses do not deny or try to ignore the 
problem.  The Modern Slavery Act provisions are designed to encourage businesses to tackle slavery 
head on. 

9.2	 If a specific case of modern slavery is identified here in the UK, it should be reported to the police 
immediately on 101.  If potential victims are in immediate danger the standard  999 emergency number 
should be used.

9.3	 In the UK, mechanisms are in place to assist victims of slavery and human trafficking.  If you identify 
a potential victim they can be referred to the National Referral Mechanism to be formally identified as a 
victim of modern slavery and offered Government-funded support. Referral for potential adult victims is by 
consent. Government-funded support is provided through a range of specialist providers across the UK. A 
list of the relevant organisations is provided at Annex F.

9.4	 When training employees in the UK to identify the signs of modern slavery and to flag up potential 
issues, you should inform them about the Modern Slavery Helpline on 0800 0121 700. This will allow 
anyone who thinks they may have come across an instance of modern slavery, or indeed who may be a 
victim themselves, to call for more information and guidance on what to do next. 

9.5	 If modern slavery is identified or suspected abroad, then the response should be tailored to the local 
circumstances. In some cases the most appropriate response will be to engage with local NGOs, industry 
bodies, trade unions or other support organisations to attempt to remedy the situation. In other cases, it 
will be more appropriate to contact local Government and law enforcement bodies. Organisations must 
always consider which approach would produce the safest outcome for the potential victims but should 
always remember the economic influence and control which the organisation holds over those who may 
be committing these crimes.   

9.6	 If the local response seems inadequate and the local company seems unable to address coercion, 
threat, abuse and exploitation of workers, then the organisation should seek to give that company more 
support, guidance and incentives to tackle the issue. This could include working with at-risk suppliers to 
provide training, messages and business incentives or guidance to implement anti-slavery policies. 

9.6	 If, after receiving support, the supplier is not taking the issue seriously, the organisation ultimately 
could reconsider their commercial relationship with that supplier. These actions could then be included in 
the next statement produced. 

9.7	 Organisations can benefit from working collaboratively with others – such as industry bodies and 

Any incidence of modern slavery should be dealt with appropriately and relevant remedies 
made available to potential victims.

Page 64



17

multi-stakeholder organisations – to improve industry-wide labour standards and to advocate for 
improved laws and policies in sourcing countries, where appropriate. This could be more likely to achieve 
long-term change than working alone.

9.8	 The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) has produced detailed 
guidance for Multi-National Enterprises (MNEs) on responsible business conduct. Whilst not specifically 
focused on modern slavery, they provide principles and standards for responsible business conduct in 
areas such as employment and industrial relations and human rights which may help organisations when 
seeking to respond to or prevent modern slavery. The full guidelines can be accessed online here: http://
mneguidelines.oecd.org/text/. There are other useful guides, such as Walk Free Business Guide https://
business.walkfree.org and Verite, 2011 ‘Fair Trade Hiring Kit’ www.verite.org/helpwanted/toolkit. 

9.9	 The Ethical Trading Initiative provides advice, support and training on these issues. The ETI Base 
Code is a globally recognised benchmark for businesses on ethical trade. www.ethicaltrade.org

Page 65



18	 Transparency in Supply Chains etc. A practical guide

Annex A 
Modern Slavery Definition

Modern Slavery is a term used to encapsulate both offences in the Modern Slavery Act: slavery, servitude 
and forced or compulsory labour; and human trafficking.  The offences are set out in section 1 and section 
2 of the Act, which can be found at: 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/30/section/1/enacted 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/30/section/2/enacted 

Definition of Slavery and Servitude

Slavery, in accordance with the 1926 Slavery Convention, is the status or condition of a person over 
whom all or any of the powers attaching to the right of ownership are exercised.  Since legal ‘ownership’ 
of a person is not possible, the key element of slavery is the behaviour on the part of the offender as if he/
she did own the person, which deprives the victim of their freedom.

Servitude is the obligation to provide services that is imposed by the use of coercion and includes the 
obligation for a ‘serf’ to live on another person’s property and the impossibility of changing his or her 
condition.  

Definition of Forced or Compulsory Labour

Forced or compulsory labour is defined in international law by the ILO’s Forced Labour Convention 29 and 
Protocol. It involves coercion, either direct threats of violence or more subtle forms of compulsion. The key 
elements are that  work or service is exacted from any person under the menace of any penalty and for 
which the person has not offered him/her self voluntarily. 

Definition of Human Trafficking

An offence of human trafficking requires that a person arranges or facilitates the travel of another person 
with a view to that person being exploited. The offence can be committed even where the victim consents 
to the travel. This reflects the fact that a victim may be deceived by the promise of a better life or job or 
may be a child who is influenced to travel by an adult. In addition, the exploitation of the potential victim 
does not need to have taken place for the offence to be committed. It means that the arranging or 
facilitating of the movement of the individual was with a view to exploiting them for sexual exploitation or 
non-sexual exploitation. The meaning of exploitation is set out here: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/
ukpga/2015/30/section/3/enacted. Recent figures from the UK National Crime Agency (NCA), show that 
the most prominent exploitation type recorded for potential victims first exploited as a child (where this is 
known), was labour trafficking.

Page 66



19

Behaviour constituting modern slavery

Identifying potential victims of modern slavery can be a challenge because the crime can manifest itself in 
many different ways.  There is a spectrum of abuse and it is not always clear at what point, for example, 
poor working practices and lack of health and safety awareness seep into instances of human trafficking, 
slavery or forced labour in a work environment. However, businesses have a responsibility to ensure that 
workers are not being exploited, that they are safe and that relevant employment (include wage and work 
hour), health and safety and human rights laws and international standards are adhered to, including 
freedom of movement and communications.

There will be cases of exploitation that, whilst being poor labour conditions, nevertheless do not meet the 
threshold for modern slavery – for example, someone may choose to work for less than the national 
minimum wage, or in undesirable or unsafe conditions, perhaps for long work hours, without being forced 
or deceived.  Such practices may not amount to modern slavery if the employee can leave freely and 
easily without threat to themselves or their family. Organisations do still nevertheless have a legal duty to 
drive out poor labour practices in their business, and a moral duty to influence and incentivise continuous 
improvements in supply chains.

Page 67



20	 Transparency in Supply Chains etc. A practical guide

Annex B 
Section 54 - Transparency in supply chains etc

(1)A commercial organisation within subsection (2) must prepare a slavery and human trafficking 
statement for each financial year of the organisation. 

(2)A commercial organisation is within this subsection if it— 

(a)supplies goods or services, and 

(b)has a total turnover of not less than an amount prescribed by regulations made by the Secretary of 
State. 

(3)For the purposes of subsection (2)(b), an organisation’s total turnover is to be determined in accordance 
with regulations made by the Secretary of State. 

(4)A slavery and human trafficking statement for a financial year is— 

(a)a statement of the steps the organisation has taken during the financial year to ensure that slavery and 
human trafficking is not taking place— 

(i)in any of its supply chains, and 

(ii)in any part of its own business, or 

(b)a statement that the organisation has taken no such steps. 

(5)An organisation’s slavery and human trafficking statement may include information about— 

(a)the organisation’s structure, its business and its supply chains; 

(b)its policies in relation to slavery and human trafficking; 

(c)its due diligence processes in relation to slavery and human trafficking in its business and supply chains; 

(d)the parts of its business and supply chains where there is a risk of slavery and human trafficking taking 
place, and the steps it has taken to assess and manage that risk; 

(e)its effectiveness in ensuring that slavery and human trafficking is not taking place in its business or 
supply chains, measured against such performance indicators as it considers appropriate; 

(f)the training about slavery and human trafficking available to its staff. 

(6)A slavery and human trafficking statement— 

Page 68



21

(a)if the organisation is a body corporate other than a limited liability partnership, must be approved by the 
board of directors (or equivalent management body) and signed by a director (or equivalent); 

(b)if the organisation is a limited liability partnership, must be approved by the members and signed by a 
designated member; 

(c)if the organisation is a limited partnership registered under the Limited Partnerships Act 1907, must be 
signed by a general partner; 

(d)if the organisation is any other kind of partnership, must be signed by a partner. 

(7)If the organisation has a website, it must— 

(a)publish the slavery and human trafficking statement on that website, and 

(b)include a link to the slavery and human trafficking statement in a prominent place on that website’s 
homepage. 

(8)If the organisation does not have a website, it must provide a copy of the slavery and human trafficking 
statement to anyone who makes a written request for one, and must do so before the end of the period of 
30 days beginning with the day on which the request is received. 

(9)The Secretary of State— 

(a)may issue guidance about the duties imposed on commercial organisations by this section; 

(b)must publish any such guidance in a way the Secretary of State considers appropriate. 

(10)The guidance may in particular include further provision about the kind of information which may be 
included in a slavery and human trafficking statement. 

(11)The duties imposed on commercial organisations by this section are enforceable by the Secretary of 
State bringing civil proceedings in the High Court for an injunction or, in Scotland, for specific performance 
of a statutory duty under section 45 of the Court of Session Act 1988. 

(12)For the purposes of this section— 

“commercial organisation” means— 

(a) a body corporate (wherever incorporated) which carries on a business, or part of a business, in any part 
of the United Kingdom, or 

(b) a partnership (wherever formed) which carries on a business, or part of a business, in any part of the 
United Kingdom, 

and for this purpose “business” includes a trade or profession; 

“partnership” means— 

(a) a partnership within the Partnership Act 1890, 

(b) a limited partnership registered under the Limited Partnerships Act 1907, or 

(c) a firm, or an entity of a similar character, formed under the law of a country outside the United Kingdom; 
“slavery and human trafficking” means— 

(a) conduct which constitutes an offence under any of the following— 

(i) section 1, 2 or 4 of this Act, 

(ii) section 1, 2 or 4 of the Human Trafficking and Exploitation (Criminal Justice and Support for Victims) Act 

Page 69



22	 Transparency in Supply Chains etc. A practical guide

(Northern Ireland) 2015 (c. 2 (N.I.)) (equivalent offences in Northern Ireland), 

(iii) section 22 of the Criminal Justice (Scotland) Act 2003 (asp 7) (traffic in prostitution etc), 

(iv) section 4 of the Asylum and Immigration (Treatment of Claimants, etc.) Act 2004 (trafficking for 
exploitation), 

(v) section 47 of the Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010 (asp 13) (slavery, servitude and 
forced or compulsory labour), or 

(b) conduct which would constitute an offence in a part of the United Kingdom under any of those 
provisions if the conduct took place in that part of the United Kingdom. 

Page 70



23

Annex C 
Example of a group structure with a subsidiary 
based abroad

As set out in paragraph 3.1 an organisation must comply with section 54 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 
if they:

•	 are a body corporate (wherever incorporated) or a partnership;

•	 carry on a business, or part of a business, in the UK;

•	 supply goods or services; and  

•	 have an annual turnover of £36m or more.

For simplicity, these are referred to below as the ‘tests in the Act’. An organisation that meets all of the 
tests in the Act must publish a slavery and human trafficking statement.

An organisation’s turnover is to be calculated as including the turnover of any of its subsidiaries, regardless 
of where those subsidiaries are based or carry on their business.

Whether a parent organisation’s statement must include the steps taken in relation to its subsidiaries 
needs to be determined on a case-by-case basis.

A slavery and human trafficking statement is a statement of the steps the organisation has taken during 
the financial year to ensure slavery and human trafficking is not taking place 

in any of its supply chains, and 

in any part of its own business, or

a statement that the organisation has taken no such steps.

Therefore, a parent organisation which meets all the tests in the Act will have to include the steps taken in 
relation to its subsidiaries in its statement if, depending on the particular facts, the activities of the 
subsidiary in fact form part of the supply chain or business of the parent. 

This will be the case even if the subsidiary in question does not meet all the tests in the Act (for example, if 
its turnover is below £36m). Of course, if the subsidiary meets all the tests in the Act in its own right, then it 
is required to produce a statement in its own right.

It will be for individual parent organisations to determine whether their subsidiaries in fact form a part of 
their own business or supply chain. The example below is given just for illustrative purposes to help explain 
the principles set out above.

Page 71



24	 Transparency in Supply Chains etc. A practical guide

EXAMPLE SCENARIO
Parent A	 Meets all the tests in the act and is required to produce a statement

Subsidiary B 	 Meets all the tests in the act and is required to produce a statement

Subsidiary C 	 Meets all the tests in the act and is required to produce a statement

Subsidiary D 	� Does not meet all the tests in the act. It is a body corporate or partnership, it does supply 
goods or services, it does have a turnover above £36m, but it does not carry on a 
business or part of a business in the UK. It is based abroad and entirely operates abroad.

In

Subsidiary D
£50m turnover

 

Parent A
£200m total turnover (£150m from subsidiaries)

t

Subsidiary C
£50m turnover

Subsidiary B
£50m turnover

his scenario parent A must produce a slavery and human trafficking statement setting out the steps it 
has taken to ensure that slavery and human trafficking is not taking place in its supply chains or own 
business. So must subsidiary B and subsidiary C. The three organisations can agree to produce a single 
statement that sets out that steps that each has taken. If not, parent A, subsidiary B and subsidiary C 
must produce separate slavery and human trafficking statements (although parent A’s statement will need 
in any event to cover steps taken in relation to its subsidiaries in its statement if, depending on the 
particular facts, the activities of those subsidiaries in fact form part of the supply chain or business of the 
parent). 

In relation to subsidiary D, there is no requirement for subsidiary D to prepare its own statement. However 
if, on the particular facts, the activities of subsidiary D form part of the supply chain or business of the 
parent, the parent’s statement should include all steps taken in relation to subsidiary D). 

If parent A determined that subsidiary D was neither a part of its own business nor a part of its supply 
chain, it could choose not to include steps taken in relation to subsidiary D in its statement. However, as 
set out in paragraph 3.13, including these steps would still represent good practice and would 
demonstrate that parent A is committed to preventing modern slavery. This is highly recommended, 
especially in cases where the non-UK subsidiary is in a high-risk industry or location. 

Page 72



25

Annex D 
The Act in the context of other reporting 
requirements

Many businesses are already required to undertake non-financial reporting on human rights. 

The Government has set out a clear expectation in the National Action Plan on Implementing the UN 
Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights.  UK organisations should respect internationally 
recognised human rights wherever they operate and treat the risk of causing or contributing to gross 
human rights abuses as a legal compliance issue.1

The UN Guiding Principles (UNGPs) reporting framework is voluntary but sets out the ways in which 
businesses can choose to meet their responsibilities with regard to human rights. The UNGPs are centred 
on three pillars: the duty of States to protect human rights; the responsibility of business to respect human 
rights; and the need for those affected by abuses to have access to effective remedy.  In the UK, these 
rights are largely enforced by law and a law-abiding business is likely to be compliant with the 
responsibility to respect human rights within its own operations.  However, the UNGPs are clear that the 
responsibility for businesses extends beyond their own staff and customers to include direct and indirect 
suppliers, wherever they are located.  

Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Directors’ Report) Regulations 2013 also require UK quoted 
companies to report within its Strategic Report on human rights issues ‘where necessary for an 
understanding of the development, performance or position of the company’s business’.  This includes 
any policies a business has in relation to these matters and the effectiveness of those policies.  The 
wording in the Companies Act 2006 does not explicitly mention supply chains or modern slavery.  It is left 
to the individual business to determine what policies are relevant and the level of detail required.  However, 
the right to be free from forced labour, slavery and servitude is a fundamental human right under 
international law, including the European Convention on Human Rights and so may be a consideration in 
this reporting requirement. 

The Financial Reporting Council has issued guidance on how to prepare the Strategic Report, including 
how to consider human rights related matters in the process of preparing the Strategic Report as a whole. 
Quoted companies obliged to prepare a Strategic Report, according to the Companies Act, who are also 
required to prepare a Slavery and Human Trafficking statement should ensure that it meets both 
requirements. Whilst a joint statement may be possible, it is envisioned most companies will opt for two 
separate statements. 

In October 2014, the European Union adopted a Directive (2014/95/EU) which amended the EU 
Accounting Directive (2013/34/EU). This amending Directive requires large undertakings that are public 

1	 The full National Action Plan is available online at https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/236901/
BHR_Action_Plan_-_final_online_version_1_.pdf

Page 73



26	 Transparency in Supply Chains etc. A practical guide

interest entities (defined in the Accounting Directive, the definition including credit institutions, insurance 
undertakings and undertakings whose securities are traded on a regulated market in the EU) with an 
average number of 500 employees to prepare a ‘non-financial statement’ as part of their management 
report. The Directive must be transposed by the 28 EU Member States by 6 December 2016 – and will 
apply to financial years commencing on, or after 1st January 2017. The non-financial statement must 
provide information “to the extent necessary for an understanding of the undertaking’s development, 
performance, position and impact of its activity, relating to, as a minimum, environmental, social and 
employee matters, respect for human rights, anti-corruption and bribery matters, including:

a.	a brief description of the undertaking’s business model;

b.	a description of the policies pursued by the undertaking in relation to those matters, including due 
diligence processes implemented;

c.	the outcome of those policies;

d.	the principal risks related to those matters linked to the undertaking’s operations including, where 
relevant and proportionate, its business relationships, products or services which are likely to 
cause adverse impacts in those areas, and how the undertaking manages those risks;

e.	non-financial key performance indicators relevant to the particular business.”

Public interest entities that are parent undertakings of a large group exceeding on their balance sheet 
dates, on a consolidated basis, the criterion of the average number of 500 employees will be required to 
include in their consolidated management reports a consolidated non-financial statement containing this 
information.

Whilst there are differences, these new obligations are similar to the requirements for the Strategic Report 
contained in Chapter 4A of Part 15 of the Companies Act 2006. 

Notably, there are similarities between the requirements of the Directive (set out at a) to e) above) and 
those areas we have set out in the Modern Slavery Act which businesses may include in a statement.  
This consistency across reporting requirements will ensure that businesses are well placed to comply with 
the transparency in supply chains measure and the wider non-financial requirements, once they are 
introduced.

It is likely that many businesses required to undertake non-financial reporting are already reporting on 
activities related to modern slavery.  Businesses may demonstrate the activities and action they are taking 
in their slavery and human trafficking statement by drawing on existing relevant programmes of activity 
rather than creating new ones where that is appropriate.  

Businesses may also be asked to respond to complaints received against them under the Organisation for 
Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (MNEs). Whilst 
not specifically focused on modern slavery, the OECD Guidelines provide principles and standards for 
responsible business conduct in related areas such as employment and industrial relations and human 
rights. National Contact Points (NCPs) are set up by each country that adheres to the Guidelines and 
provide a platform for discussion and assistance to stakeholders to help find a resolution for issues arising 
from  complaints of alleged non-observance of the Guidelines. NCPs focus on problem solving, offering 
good offices and facilitating access to consensual and non-adversarial procedures (e.g. conciliation or 
mediation). The UK Government expects businesses based or operating in the UK to engage with the UK 
NCP where complaints are made against them. The UK NCP is not a judicial body, however, and cannot 
deal with legal cases, e.g. contravention of the Act’s modern slavery provisions. Such legal cases should 
be reported to the relevant authorities, see also Section 9 of these guidelines. 

Page 74



27

Annex E 
Information in a slavery and human trafficking 
statement

Organisational structure and supply chains
For businesses to produce an effective statement they will need to have a good understanding of their 
own supply chains in order to define the boundaries of the report and to support the identification of risk. 
Consumers, investors, campaigners and the public also need information about the business.

Information to disclose could include:

•	 the sector(s) the business operates in and whether any of its work is seasonal

•	 the organisational structure and group relationships

•	 the countries it sources its goods or services from including high risk countries where modern 
forms of slavery are prevalent.

•	 the make-up and complexity of the supply chains

•	 the businesses operating model

•	 relationships with suppliers and others, including trade unions and other bodies representing 
workers 

Such information will allow people to consider the statement more effectively. A greater level of detail and 
explanation of efforts is likely to be more helpful, and perhaps prevent potential stakeholder 
misunderstanding. However, a huge amount of technical or legal information about a company structure 
may make the statement more inaccessible to many readers, so there is a balance to be struck here.

Page 75



28	 Transparency in Supply Chains etc. A practical guide

Organisational Policies
The establishment of effective policies and incentives shape the environment and set the tone of an 
organisation in assessing, preventing and mitigating the risk of and working to influence and remedy 
modern slavery in their supply chains and organisation.  Clear organisational policies demonstrate an 
organisation’s commitment to this issue and ensures that appropriate and coordinated action is taken 
throughout the business.  

Tackling modern slavery does not necessarily require a standalone policy.  It could simply be adapting, 
and/or clarifying how existing policies and practices, programmes and management systems already 
work to prevent modern slavery. These policies and approaches may need upgrading as the years pass, 
and as understanding of the issue and approaches to address it improve.   

Policies supported by the board of directors and senior management that have the right incentives are 
likely to influence positive behaviour within the organisation.   This may also externally influence suppliers 
and subcontractors particularly when assessment of risk in their operations is undertaken 
comprehensively. 

If policies and practices are to have the desired effect they must be supported through effective 
communications and, where appropriate, training, resourcing and collaboration of effort by appropriately 
skilled personnel.  Policies should be established and clearly communicated so that anti-slavery activity 
within a company and its supply chains becomes embedded as standard practice, which all staff are 
aware of and incentivised to partner on and support. It is up to each business how detailed they want to 
make their policy on modern slavery. However, some of the questions that an organisation might want to 
consider when drawing up a modern slavery policy could be:

•	 What minimum labour standards are expected of the business, its subsidiaries and suppliers, and 
how do these align to industry standards? 

Case Study 

A leading supermarket is collaborating with the Wilberforce Institute for the Study of Slavery and 
Emancipation (WISE) at Hull University. WISE is initially working with the supermarket through its fresh 
produce and horticulture supply chain to conduct a modern slavery risk assessment. This will involve 
in-depth supplier research and will draw on the Global Slavery Index at Hull University - the first 
comprehensive index of its kind estimating the number of people living in slavery or slavery like 
conditions in 162 countries. 

The risk assessment will include:

•	 a review of current ethical sourcing management systems, company policies and existing risk 
management tools; 

•	 research into the challenges faced by suppliers at industry and country level for fresh produce 
and horticulture; and

•	 recommendations on areas for improvement in addressing modern slavery hotspots and risks 
with suppliers. 

The research goes beyond an audit based approach and will involve meetings with suppliers operating 
in high risk areas, suppliers developing good practice, local NGOs, relevant industry bodies and local 
authorities. The supermarket aims to understand existing challenges faced by suppliers locally and 
identify current initiatives to improve labour practices. This will provide them with information on the 
tools, policies and practices that are needed to support suppliers’ sites to improve labour management 
systems and reduce the risk of modern slavery in the long term. 

Page 76



29

•	 Who in the business is responsible for a) ensuring efforts are made to investigate and remediate 
the risk of modern slavery in the business and/or supply chains, and b) ensuring that basic labour 
standards are met, and how are such leaders financially incentivised and resourced to do so?

•	 How does the business factor legal and fair full labour costs into production and sourcing costs to 
avoid the need for seemingly cheaper slave or bonded labour in operations or the supply chain?

•	 What is the company’s policy where a supplier is found to have been involved in modern slavery? 

•	 When entering into a contract with a new supplier or renewing contracts with existing suppliers 
what checks, assurances, investigations will the company conduct or accept?

•	 What support or guidance is available to business operations or suppliers willing to remediate 
situations of slavery or forced labour found? 

•	 What due diligence will the company commit to conducting regarding its supply chains (see 
section below on due diligence)?

•	 What is the company policy to support whistle-blowing? What procedures are in place to facilitate 
reporting, including reporting by workers through helplines? 

•	 What is the company’s policy and approach to remediation for workers if and where cases of 
modern slavery and forced labour are found; and what measures are taken to protect them from 
further victimisation or vulnerability? 

If an organisation is able to provide a clear policy on modern slavery, with clear rules in place about how 
the company will handle these sorts of issues, then the company should be able to take a consistent, 
sustainable and continuous improvement approach to tackling modern slavery. Clear policies should 
mean that all employees in the organisation and the organisation’s suppliers know how to, and are 
resourced to prevent or identify exploitation. They should provide information about the first steps when 
modern slavery is identified and broadly how and with whom to partner (in and/or outside the business) in 
influencing remedy for workers (or ceasing of that business relationship in the worst cases). 

Over time, consistent training for all staff, with increasingly clear policies and approaches (backed by past 
industry case studies or what has worked previously), should help to ensure that modern slavery is 
targeted more effectively and persistently, regardless of staff turnover or changes in the supply chain.

Some policies and practices may be specific to an organisation’s business model or the sector they are 
working in.  For example, some sectors may make particularly frequent use of temporary workers sourced 
through an intermediary or employment agency. In this situation, they will not have a direct employment 
relationship with some of their workers, and so they may have specific policies in place to ensure that 
these particular relationships are managed in a way that mitigates any potential risk of modern slavery.

Information to disclose could include:

•	 The process for policy development

•	 Policies that concern business relationships , for example, a Supplier Code of Conduct

•	 Recruitment policy

•	 Procurement policy and incentives to combat modern slavery

•	 Employee code of conduct

•	 Policies concerning access to remedy, compensation and justice for victims of modern slavery

•	 Polices that relate to staff training and increasing awareness of modern slavery

Page 77



30	 Transparency in Supply Chains etc. A practical guide

 For example, organisations may have specific policies that require the business to only use specified 
reputable employment agencies to source labour or that they always seek specific information from the 
agency before accepting employees from that agency. It is important to note that the Modern Slavery Act 
requirements do not require any organisation to amend existing policies or to introduce new policies. If the 
organisation has any relevant policies they can be either referenced in the statement or copied directly into 
the statement itself.

 Good practice

Examine internal business procedures to avoid making demands of suppliers or subcontractors that 
might lead them to violate human rights, including children’s rights.  These types of demands include 
insufficient or late payments, and late orders or high-pressure deadlines resulting from poor demand 
forecasting.

Ensure that zero tolerance for modern slavery and respect for human rights, including children’s rights, 
are built into contracts and represented in dialogue, self-assessment, audits, training and capacity-
building opportunities for suppliers, subcontractors, customers, and other business partners.

In some cases it may be beneficial to foster long-term relationships with suppliers, contractors and 
subcontractors.

Page 78



31

Case Study 

A prominent retailer’s Ethical Trading Policy includes a detailed Ethical Trading Code of Conduct that 
contains, amongst other requirements, conditions whereby factories producing their goods must 
ensure: employment is freely chosen, child labour shall not be used, and no harsh or inhumane 
treatment will occur. The Ethical Trading Policy also includes a Foreign Contract Worker Policy, 
specifically intended to protect workers who may be potentially vulnerable to the exploitation regrettably 
existent in certain flows of international contract labour. This Policy refers to international human rights 
norms and, in particular, factories are required to ensure all workers retain passports, ID Cards, 
bankcards and similar documents to facilitate their unhindered freedom of movement.

For all factories in all regions involved in the manufacture of products for or on behalf of the retailer, 
compliance with the Ethical Trading Policy, including the Ethical Trading Code of Conduct and the 
Foreign Contract Worker Policy, as well as all other local laws and relevant international standards, is a 
requirement of doing business with the retailer. Before the retailer places an order for production in a 
finished goods factory a social compliance audit (often unannounced) is carried out to assess the 
factory’s compliance with the above Policies. It is only once the Ethical Trading Team is satisfied that the 
factory is committed to these standards for worker rights, that the factory can be approved. 

To drive compliance further, a diverse programme of announced and unannounced follow-up audits, 
continuous improvement programmes, training programmes, and a confidential worker hotline services 
(in place especially in countries where there is high percentage of migrant workers) is overseen by the 
Ethical Trading team in respect of all factories involved in the production of the retailer’s goods. 

For suppliers that produce component parts of the goods such as fabric mills, dye houses, sundries 
and packaging factories, the retailer has commenced a programme of social and environmental audits, 
through an industry collaboration working group, where independent third parties are accredited to 
perform such audits. All audits (whether initial approval audits or on-going compliance audits) are 
conducted either by externally trained internal team members or by third party independent auditors, 
including NGO auditors. An integral part of the auditing process includes confidential interviewing of 
workers (in a manner protecting worker safety), which helps to understand any potential risks of 
bonded labour or other forced labour or slavery. By empowering workers and providing mechanisms 
for them to whistle blow through independent NGO worker hotlines, workers are able to contribute to 
the dialogue about the risks they face, communicate their priorities, and learn about their rights.

Page 79



32	 Transparency in Supply Chains etc. A practical guide

Due Diligence
The Modern Slavery Act also states that in producing a slavery and human trafficking statement a 
business may consider including information about its due diligence processes.

Many human rights breaches, including modern slavery, are not 
immediately apparent. In fact, some suppliers may even go to 
great lengths to hide the fact that they are using slave labour. 

For example, some or all of their workers may be in forced or 
bonded labour (including coaching and pressuring workers to lie 
to auditors about their conditions being better than they are, and 
presenting fake records).

Human rights due diligence is also a key concept in the UN 
Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights (UNGPs) The 
UNGPs specify that due diligence processes should ‘include assessing actual and potential human rights 
impacts, integrating and acting upon the findings, tracking responses, and communicating how impacts 
are addressed.’2

For more detailed guidance on good practice with regards to due diligence organisations should refer 
directly to the UNGPs which are available online:

http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR_EN.pdf

The UNGPs have also been incorporated into the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and the 
OECD is developing sector-based guidance as part of its “proactive agenda” to help businesses identify 
and respond to risks associated with particular products, regions, sectors or industries. For more 
information see http://mneguidelines.oecd.org/. 

Human rights due diligence is related to corporate good governance.  For many businesses due diligence, 
in relation to modern slavery, is likely to form part of a wider framework around ethical trade, corporate 
social responsibility and human rights.  

Human rights due diligence also requires consultation with stakeholders that are potentially or actually 
affected by a company’s operations and supply chain, particularly vulnerable groups, such as children.  
This means bringing the voices of those vulnerable groups into this process so that a company can 
understand how the organisation affects their lives.

Due diligence procedures should be:

•	 proportionate to the identified modern slavery risk, 

•	 the severity of the risk, and 

•	 level of influence a business may have. 

•	 informed by any broader risk assessments that have been conducted (see Risk Assessment 
section below). 

Procedures may vary depending on the complexity of the relationships within an organisation and in their 
supply chains. For example:

1.	A business may have greater knowledge about their first-tier suppliers, and its stakeholders may 
expect it to make greater efforts at its first tier. However, they should also engage their lower tier 
suppliers where possible. 

2.	Due-diligence includes on-going assessment of modern-slavery risks, and meeting changing 

2	  UNGPs, p.17 [http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR_EN.pdf]

Page 80



33

expectations on industries to use their influence to encourage change where conditions of slavery 
may be persistent.  

3.	Due-diligence includes the expectation that businesses will ensure integrity of their investigations. 
Some suppliers may go to great lengths to hide the fact that they are in some way involved 
in using forced labour. Audits and compliance-driven approaches are unlikely to identify or 
uncover hidden cases of slavery or trafficking. As such it is advisable that businesses seek to 
investigate working conditions with support from expert independent, third parties and civil society 
stakeholders, and hear from workers themselves about their working conditions.

D

Case Study 

With the increased interest in retailer supply chains and the new Modern Slavery Act, one high street 
retailer took the decision to make their Social, Ethical & Environmental audit more robust.  With advice 
from a third party who were administering their supplier assessment programme the retailer amended 
some of the existing questions in their audit questionnaire and added others.  They have just completed 
testing of the new questionnaire and auditors have given very positive feedback, agreeing that it is a 
more robust audit.  

Factories have been encouraged to improve accommodation where failings have been found, and 
issues with health & safety have been addressed.  Instances have been found where conditions of 
employment have been unacceptable and factories have been asked to make changes and introduce 
better systems.  Where factories have been unwilling or unable to make improvements they have been 
exited from the business.  The main aim is to encourage continuous improvement in factories rather 
than simply ‘failing’ them and walking away.  The retailer will be fully implementing the new questionnaire 
across all the sites for use shortly.

ue diligence in assessing modern slavery or human rights risk in operations or supply chains is not a 
legal requirement of the transparency provisions, however, it is good business practice and risk 
management and will enable both more effective reporting and, more importantly, more effective action to 
address modern slavery.  A business already undertaking relevant due diligence to ensure that the 
products they purchase are of good sustainable quality and ethically sourced will be able to point to the 
work already underway in their slavery and human trafficking statement. 

Information to consider as part of due diligence could include:

•	 Actions taken to understand the businesses operating context

•	 Details of risk management processes, including monitoring and evaluation measures

•	 Impact assessments undertaken

•	 Action plans to address and risk/actual instances of modern slavery and how actions have been 
prioritised

•	 Evidence of stakeholder engagement

•	 Business-level grievance mechanisms in place to address modern slavery

•	 Actions taken to embed respect for human rights and zero tolerance of modern slavery 
throughout the organisation

Page 81



34	 Transparency in Supply Chains etc. A practical guide

Assessing and Managing Risk
If an organisation has properly assessed the nature and extent of its exposure to the risk of modern 
slavery, it will be more able to take targeted action to find it, to remedy it, and to prevent it occurring in the 
future.

Modern slavery risk assessments should be seen as part of an organisation’s wider approach to risk 
management and could form part of more general risk assessments that are carried out for a variety of 
reasons.  

It is important for businesses to adopt risk assessment 
policies and procedures that are proportionate to the 
organisation’s size, structure, location of activities and 
supply chain(s), and nature of business(es).  

Businesses firstly need to research and identify risks 
where they have operations or supply chain(s) and then 
prioritise those risks.  Oversight of risk assessment or 
risk management frameworks is, in best practise, led by 
Directors or Partners so that issues found can be dealt 
with at the appropriate level.  

Appropriate resources are needed to ensure that risk assessment strategies can be effective. This means 
that the assessments should be able to identify the risks and issues, properly assess their level of 
importance, and ensure that appropriate remedies are in place.    

Identifying relevant information from internal and external sources will help businesses to undertake 
effective risk assessments and appropriate review of those risks.  Particular business risks to consider in 
assessing and managing risks to workers include:

	Country risks – exposure may be greater in global supply chains in countries where protection 
against breaches of human rights are limited, particularly with regard to rights of foreign contract 
workers to retain their own ID and papers, and/or where work arrangement by agents is common, 
etc.

	Sector risks – there are different risks and levels of risk in different sectors. For example, the risks 
and arrangements which generate bonded labour situations for workers in the extractives sector 
may differ to those causes  in manufacturing.

	Transaction risks – banks or financial institutions may be involved in facilitating financing from or 
supporting cases of modern slavery and bonded labour in operations or supply chains or through 
money laundering.

	Business partnership risks – Different supplier relationships and business partnerships will all 
carry different levels of risks. In some cases, existing long-term partnerships will involve less risk 
because the organisation will have a better knowledge of their partner’s operations and policies. 
However, a new partnership or business relationship may be equally low risk as long as proper due 
diligence is conducted.

Organisations should then decide how identified risks can be investigated, and where issues are found, 
how they can best be remediated or mitigated through activities such as industry collaboration or 
improved purchasing practises internally. Training the Board, organisation’s leadership, and employees to 
develop the skills and knowledge to understand and support risk prevention and remediation can greatly 
assist. 

To ensure effectiveness, it is best practise to foster a culture that rewards the identification of risks and the 

Page 82



35

effective mitigation and remedy of cases found. To be effective this should be part of a clear organisational 
ethos and performance management system which is promoted by senior management and company 
policy.

Businesses must be alive to the continuously changing nature of modern slavery.  Whilst industry, NGOs, 
law enforcement and government may alone or together stop exploitation or workers in one area, without 
robust monitoring, communications, and incentives it can potentially arise in another part of operations or 
the supply chain, so constantly assessing and reviewing these risks is important. 

Sharing risks with trusted partners such as representative bodies, industry associations and working 
groups to deepen understanding of macro issues and supporting improved government legislation where 
appropriate may also help sectors as a whole to prevent modern slavery, where it is possible to share this 
kind of information.

Case Study 

Following negative media reports into the Thai fishing 
industry, in 2014, there was significant interest from the 
seafood industry and other stakeholders to collaborate 
on a way forward and so a number of stakeholders 
formed the Seafood Ethics Common Language Group. 

The Seafood Ethics CLG is an example model of an 
integrated, interdisciplinary and collaborative approach to 
address ethical and social issues relating to responsible 
seafood production. The group convenes seafood 
stakeholders including major supermarket chains, 
smaller retailers, processors and suppliers throughout 
the whole supply chain, with government, NGOs, 
development organisations and charities in a ‘safe’ 
environment. The aim is to reach mutual consensus on 
issues which impact on the responsible sourcing of 
seafood – to facilitate a coherent and credible sector-
wide response.

Page 83



36	 Transparency in Supply Chains etc. A practical guide

Performance Indicators
Performance indicators are important in driving the performance of a business and shaping the way it 
operates. They can also affect how exposed the business is to the risk of modern slavery.  

The direction and focus of particular performance incentives (such as that Sourcing Directors should buy 
the lowest cost products, that can be shipped in the fastest time) may influence and create a modern 
slavery risk if not managed carefully. This should be considered when improving internal management 
performance indicators and should be linked to the organisation’s risk assessment.  

Focusing on KPIs to increase production or shipment “turn-around” time speed, for example, may 
unintentionally increase pressure on those who are producing the goods on production lines. This could 
create environments where modern slavery (particularly in the shape of bonded labour) may become a 
way a supplier or production site tries to deal with unrealistic short time pressure and related expectations 
on their operations or supplying partnership.

KPIs could be used in a modern slavery statement in two ways. Firstly, businesses could choose to 
provide information on their existing KPIs and set out whether they have considered whether they make 
their business and supply chain vulnerable to modern slavery. 

Secondly, this section of the statement could outline any additional KPIs which the company has 
introduced to measure the performance of any anti-slavery actions undertaken. If an initial risk assessment 
highlighted issues in a company’s operations or supply chain, a KPI could be introduced to measure 
progress against reducing that risk, i.e. improving conditions for those people. 

For example, a business could set targets for: 

•	 training and capacity building of staff about modern slavery issues, measuring changes in 
awareness of risk; appropriate decision-making and swift action, as appropriate.; 

•	 grievance procedures and whistle-blowing procedures for workers and employees if cases are 
suspected or found; 

•	 visibility, leverage and oversight of suppliers in relevant goods and services supply chains

Whilst there is no requirement to introduce new KPIs, those companies that do will choose their own 
based on what is most effective and efficient for them.

Carefully designed KPIs could help a business to demonstrate as clearly as possible if they are making 
progress over time in preventing modern slavery in their business or supply chains.

Case Study

A sportswear manufacturer has taken a range of actions in relation to its supply chain which could be 
included in a slavery and human trafficking statement:

Supply chain verification – The company’s policy is to evaluate potential contracted factories before they 
enter the supply chain to assess compliance with standards including country-related risk for issues 
including force labour, human trafficking and slavery.  They use both internal and external third-party 
audits.

Direct suppliers’ certification of materials – The company is working on mapping and understanding 
impacts further up the supply chain, to develop standards for upstream suppliers of contracted 
manufacturers.

Standards for compliance - If a contracted factory is found to violate laws or the manufacturer’s 
standards, it is responsible for improving performance against a master action plan.  If the factory fails to 
make progress against that plan, they are subject to review and sanctions, including potential 
termination.

Page 84



37

Training
Training is a fundamental way of raising awareness and ensuring that people understand the importance 
of a particular issue.  It also helps people to understand what they need to do, and how to work together 
internally or externally if they encounter something that raises concerns. Training may be targeted at 
different groups of employees within a business, including leadership, or at different businesses within a 
supply chain, and the training itself could take a range of different forms. It may range from detailed 
training courses to broader awareness-raising programmes. 

Training and development provide both the company as a whole and the individual employees with 
benefits that can make the cost and time a worthwhile investment.  Such expense can be minimised 
where relevant training is undertaken alongside wider training, on similar issues.  For modern slavery, this 
could be a module in a wider training programme for supply chain managers or for human resources 
managers dealing with recruitment and ongoing training. This may reference how all parts of the business 
influence purchasing practices which influence company or supply chain conditions, i.e. by merchandising 
and others demanding new products at unrealistically low prices (not taking into account proper wage 
rates) or shipped too fast. 

Human rights can only be realised through an informed and continued demand by people for their 
protection. Human rights education promotes values, beliefs and attitudes that encourage all individuals to 
uphold their own rights and those of others, and can support employee pride in the ethical standards their 
employer strives for. It develops an understanding of everyone’s common responsibility to make human 
rights a reality in each community. 

Organisations should think about where training should be targeted to have the most effect. If those 
employees who might encounter victims directly are more aware of the indicators of modern slavery  and 
of how to report suspected cases, and what actions they can expect the company to take, then they can 
raise flags, and help to root it out in a particular business or supply chain. Similarly, if a supply chain 
manager, procurement or product quality professional is trained and incentivised then they may be able to 
do a lot to prevent new modern slavery occurring in the supply chains they manage, and to assist its 
remediation for victims where it does exist. However, the training needs of these groups is likely to be very 
different so businesses will need to determine the most effective and efficient way to reach the most 
relevant groups in their business and supply chains. 

Page 85



38	 Transparency in Supply Chains etc. A practical guide

Annex F 
UK Modern Slavery Adult Victim support 
providers

England and Wales 

The Salvation Army 0300 303 8151 

Scotland 

Trafficking Awareness Raising Alliance (TARA) 0141 276 7724  
Migrant Helpline 07837 937737 or 07789 791 110 

Northern Ireland 

Migrant Help 013 0420 3977 or 07766 668 781 (for male potential victims of human trafficking) 
Women’s Aid 028 9024 9041 (for female potential victims of human trafficking)

Modern Slavery Helpline

The UK Government also provides a 24-hour modern slavery helpline that victims, employers and 
members of the public who may encounter modern slavery can call for expert support and advice. 
0800 0121 700

Page 86



39

Case Study

Stronger Together was launched in October 2013 as a business led multi-stakeholder collaborative 
initiative to equip UK employers and recruiters with the practical knowledge and resources to tackle 
modern slavery in their business and supply chains by providing free good practice guidance and tools 
through www.stronger2gether.org.

In two years:

•	 Almost 2000 industry representatives have registered with www.stronger2gether.org.

•	 Almost 1000 individuals from 600 businesses have attended “Tackling Modern Slavery in UK 
Businesses and Supply Chains” workshops and are taking the tackling slavery message back to 
over 450,000 workers.

•	 ‘Daniel and Weronika’s Story’, a free to download powerful anti-trafficking video based on real 
life cases, subtitled in many languages for use in induction and training, has been viewed over 
7400 times on YouTube.

•	 Stronger Together has launched two online “Tackling Modern Slavery” training modules; one for 
front line recruiters in recruitment businesses, the second for first line supervisors in any at risk 
employment sector.

•	 Many UK companies have become Stronger Together Business Partners, publicly declaring the 
proactive measures they have implemented to tackle hidden slavery at http://stronger2gether.
org/businesspartners/	  

Page 87



40	 Transparency in Supply Chains etc. A practical guide

Annex G 
Useful Information and Resources

Modern Slavery Act 2015 -  
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/30/contents/enacted

The Modern Slavery Act 2015 (Transparency in Supply Chains) Regulations 2015 -  
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2015/9780111138847

Transparency in Supply Chains Consultation Document (Feb 2015) and Government Response (July 
2015) -  
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/modern-slavery-and-supply-chains

UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights (UNGPS) –  
www.ohchr.org/Documents/.../GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR_EN.pdf

Good Business: Implementing the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights (September 
2013) –  
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/236901/BHR_Action_
Plan_-_final_online_version_1_.pdf

OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises - http://mneguidelines.oecd.org/text/ 

UN Global Compact –  
https://www.unglobalcompact.org/

Walk Free Global Slavery Index -  
http://www.globalslaveryindex.org/

ILO Resources on Forced Labour, Human Trafficking and Slavery -  
http://www.ilo.org/global/topics/forced-labour/lang--en/index.htm

Verité eLearning on Supply Chain Accountability -  
http://www.verite.org/research/elearning

Business and Human Rights Resource Centre -  
http://business-humanrights.org/

Ethical Trading Initiative -  
www.ethicaltrade.org

Stronger together initiative -  
http://stronger2gether.org/businesspartners/

International Tourism Partnership -  
http://tourismpartnership.org/human-trafficking/ 

Page 88



41

Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention, 1999 (No. 182) 
http://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:12100:0::NO::P12100_ILO_CODE:C182

The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC)  
http://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/crc.aspx

Page 89



42	 Transparency in Supply Chains etc. A practical guide

The Home Office would like to thank the following organisations for supporting the development of this 
guidance:

Amnesty International

Anti-Slavery International

Association of British Travel Agents 

British Hospitality Association

British Retail Consortium

Burberry

Business in the Community 

CAFOD

Children’s Society

Confederation of British Industry

CORE coalition

ECPAT UK

Engineering Employers’ Federation

Ethical Trading Initiative

Food and Drink Federation

FLEX

International Chamber of Commerce

International Tourism Partnership

KPMG

PWC

Rathbone Greenbank Investments

Shift Project

Stop the Traffik

Stronger Together / Alliance HR

The Society of Motor Manufacturers and Traders Limited

Unseen

Waitrose

Wilko

Page 90


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	4 Local Transport Plan Implementation Plan (Policy Framework)
	5 Review of Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document (Policy Framework)
	6 Parking Strategy 2016-2021 - Mayor's Final Proposed Strategy (Policy Framework)
	7 Capital Investment Fund
	8 Disposal of Long Lease - Waterpark, Go-kart Site and Peter Pan Area, Goodrington Sands, Tanners Road, Goodrington, Paignton
	9 Torre Valley North Lease
	11 Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support Risk Based Verification Policy

	8 Potential Helipad and Light Rail System for Torbay
	9 Modern Slavery Statement
	Modern Slavery Statement Appendix 1
	Modern Slavery Statement Appendix 2
	Modern Slavery Statement Appendix 3
	Modern Slavery Statement Appendix 4
	Modern Slavery Statement Appendix 5
	Modern Slavery Statement Appendix 6


